Louisiana State University LSU Scholarly Repository

LSU Master's Theses

**Graduate School** 

2013

## Insulin Secretagogue Activity of Ellagic Acid-Rich Muscadine (Vitis Rotundifolia) and Indian Gooseberry (Emblica Officinalis) Extracts on Pancreatic Beta Cells

Srikanth Earpina Louisiana State University and Agricultural and Mechanical College

Follow this and additional works at: https://repository.lsu.edu/gradschool\_theses

Part of the Life Sciences Commons

## **Recommended Citation**

Earpina, Srikanth, "Insulin Secretagogue Activity of Ellagic Acid-Rich Muscadine (Vitis Rotundifolia) and Indian Gooseberry (Emblica Officinalis) Extracts on Pancreatic Beta Cells" (2013). *LSU Master's Theses*. 1770.

https://repository.lsu.edu/gradschool\_theses/1770

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at LSU Scholarly Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in LSU Master's Theses by an authorized graduate school editor of LSU Scholarly Repository. For more information, please contact gradetd@lsu.edu.

## INSULIN SECRETAGOGUE ACTIVITY OF ELLAGIC ACID-RICH MUSCADINE (*VITIS ROTUNDIFOLIA*) AND INDIAN GOOSEBERRY (*EMBLICA OFFICINALIS*) EXTRACTS ON PANCREATIC BETA CELLS

A Thesis

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of the Louisiana State University and Agricultural and Mechanical College in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

in

The Department of Food Science

by Srikanth Earpina B.Tech., Acharya N G Ranga Agricultural University, 2009 December 2013 I dedicate this work to my beloved Parents, Mr. Satyanarayana Earpina and Mrs. Venkata Ramana Earpina, my Guru Sri Brahmasri Chaganti Koteswararao garu, and the Almighty

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I sincerely thank the Almighty for bestowing his blessings on me throughout my life. I owe the position where I stand today to his holy feet. I acknowledge that without HIS utmost love on me, I would have achieved nothing.

I would like to express my deepest sense of gratitude for my mentor Dr. Jack N. Losso for his invaluable guidance during my study towards achievement of Master's degree. His advices have been insightful and not only limited to my thesis work but also towards several aspects of my career. I can never forget the encouragement he has given me to always strive for the betterment. I would also take this opportunity to thank my advisory committee members, Dr. John W. Finley and Dr. Sita Aggarwal for their great support and valuable suggestions all through my research. My special thanks to Dr. Sita Aggarwal for liberally providing me the NIT-1 pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells for my work.

I am quite grateful to Ms. Karen Mcdonough, Namrata Karki, Alfredo Prudente, Adriana Soto, Diana Carvajal Aldaz, Damir Torrico, Behnam Keshavarz, Marjan Mohtashamian and Luke Mumphrey for their help towards my research. Finally, my heartfelt thanks to my relatives, Krishna Prasad Matukumalli, Sireesha Matukumalli, Venkata Suresh Geda, Sunitha Geda and friends, Yaswanth Chintana, Sai Saripalli, Sravan kumar Dunna, Murali Krishna Gopu, Pradeep Kumar Mantha, Rajeswari Atla, Venkata Reddy Atla, Chandramouli Vaddepalli, Siva Karthik Natesan, Sateesh Kumar Kodavali, Hari Chintalapudi and Praveen Chinni, without whose unconditional support I wouldn't have reached this stage of my life.

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
ABSTRACT	vi
CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER 2. LITERATURE REVIEW	4
2.1. Diabetes	4
2.1.1. Types of Diabetes	4
2.2. Risk factors for diabetes	5
2.2.1. Hyperglycemia, free fatty acids and type 2 diabetes	5
2.3. Oxidative stress and $\beta$ -cells.	7
2.4. Inflammation and $\beta$ -cells	8
2.4.1. Interleukin-1 $\beta$ (IL-1 $\beta$ ) and $\beta$ -cells	8
2.5. Diabetes Management	12
2.5.1. Therapeutic approach	12
2.5.2. Dietary approach	13
2.5.3. Muscadine or amla bioactives and diabetes	
2.5.3.1. Muscadine	13
2.5.3.2. Amla (Indian gooseberry)	15
2.5.3.3. Ellagic acid and urolithins	16
2.5.3.4. Isorhamnetin	18
CHAPTER 3. MATERIALS AND METHODS	20
3.1. Reagents	20
3.2. Fruit extracts preparation	20
3.3. Determination of ellagic acid content in muscadine or amla extracts	21
3.4. NIT-1 cell line	21
3.5. Conjugation of palmitic acid with bovine serum albumin (PA-BSA)	22
3.6. Cell viability assay	22
3.7. Interaction between inducers and inhibitors of inflammation in NIT-1 cells	23
3.8. Analysis of IL-1β	23
3.9. Analysis of insulin concentration	23
3.10. Statistical analysis	24
CHAPTER 4. RESULTS & DISCUSSION	25
4.1. Ellagic acid content in muscadine and amla extracts	25
4.2. Effect of EA, UR, IS, MS or AM on the viability of NIT-1 cells treated with Glu,	
PA or Glu+PA	
4.3. Effect of EA, UR, IS, MS or AM on Glu-induced IL-1β	
4.4. Effect of EA, UR, IS, MS or AM on PA-induced IL-1β	35
4.5. Effect of EA, UR, IS, MS or AM on Glu+PA-induced IL-1β	39
4.6. Effect of EA, UR, IS, MS or AM on insulin secretion in Glu-treated NIT-1 cells	42
4.7. Effect of EA, UR, IS, MS or AM on insulin secretion in PA-treated NIT-1 cells	

4.8. Effect of EA, UR, IS, MS or AM on insulin secretion in Glu+PA-treated NIT-1 cells	50
CHAPTER 5. CONCLUSIONS	54
REFERENCES	55
VITA	67

## ABSTRACT

Diabetes is an inflammatory disease associated with hyperglycemia. Chronic exposure of pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells to glucolipotoxicity stimulates a low-grade inflammation associated with the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as interleukin-1 $\beta$  (IL-1 $\beta$ ). Increased levels of IL-1 $\beta$  can initially lead to decreased insulin secretion and finally  $\beta$ -cell death.

Ellagic acid and quercetin have been reported to be anti-inflammatory in several studies. *Vitis rotundifolia* (muscadine) or *Emblica officinalis* (amla) are good sources of ellagic acid and quercetin. Ellagic acid or quercetin is bioavailable as is or are metabolized into bioavailable urolithins or isorhamnetin, respectively. The objective of this study was to evaluate the effect of ellagic acid, urolithin A, isorhamnetin, muscadine or amla extracts standardized to their ellagic acid content on glucose-, palmitic acid-, or glucose + palmitic acid-induced IL-1 $\beta$  and insulin secretion.

Acid-hydrolyzed and neutralized extracts of muscadine or amla were prepared and the ellagic acid content in the extracts was measured by HPLC. The ellagic acid content in muscadine and amla extracts was  $9.4 \pm 2.3$  mg/g and  $19.4 \pm 1.5$  mg/g, respectively. NIT-1 pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells were incubated with 33.3 mM glucose, 250  $\mu$ M palmitic acid or 33.3 mM glucose + 250  $\mu$ M palmitic acid for 24 h followed by addition of 0.01 – 10  $\mu$ M each of ellagic acid, urolithin A, isorhamnetin, extracts of muscadine or amla standardized to its ellagic acid content followed by additional incubation for 72 h. All incubations were performed at 37°C in a 5% CO<sub>2</sub> humidified incubator. IL-1 $\beta$  and insulin were analyzed in the supernatants by ELISA. Glucose, palmitic acid or glucose + palmitic acid up-regulated IL-1 $\beta$  and reduced insulin secretion in NIT-1 cells. Glucose induced more IL-1 $\beta$  secretion than palmitate and reduced insulin secretion than palmitic acid. Ellagic acid, muscadine or amla extracts containing ellagic

acid equivalent dose-dependently inhibited IL-1 $\beta$  secretion. Urolithin A or isorhamnetin did not significantly inhibit IL-1 $\beta$ . Ellagic acid, urolithin A, isorhamnetin, or extracts from muscadine or amla dose-dependently increased insulin secretion. Muscadine or amla extracts standardized to their ellagic acid content showed higher stimulation of insulin secretion and IL-1 $\beta$  downregulation compared to pure ellagic acid. A tentative explanation for this inhibition is the presence of other bioactive compounds in the muscadine or amla extracts. The results of this study show that ellagic acid, muscadine or amla are effective modulators of glucose-, palmitic acid- or glucose+palmitic acid-induced IL-1 $\beta$  secretion and promoters of insulin secretion in  $\beta$ cells.

**Keywords:** NIT-1 cells; inflammation; glucose; palmitic acid; muscadine; amla; ellagic acid; urolithin A; isorhamnetin; IL-1β; insulin

## CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

Diabetes is a chronic degenerative disease that develops due to defects in insulin secretion function of pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells resulting from excess intake of nutrients such as carbohydrates or fats (*1-3*). The presence of high levels of glucose or free fatty acids increases free radical production and thereby induce oxidative stress (*4*, *5*) that can be translated into a chronic inflammatory process by the release of cytokines (*6*, *7*). The combination of glucose toxicity and lipid toxicity is referred to as glucolipotoxicity. Interleukin-1 $\beta$  (IL-1 $\beta$ ) is the major proinflammatory cytokine released under glucose, lipid or glucolipotoxicity (*8*). Elevated IL-1 $\beta$  levels lead to an initial faulty insulin secretion (*9*, *10*) and ultimately  $\beta$ -cell failure (*11*). Synthetic anti-diabetic drugs or plant foods that can modulate inflammation can help in diabetes management.

The demand for functional foods has been increasing due to the growing public awareness on the potential health benefits of dietary bio-actives (12). Phenolic compounds in plant foods have been ascribed with anti-oxidant (13), anti-inflammatory (14) and anti-diabetic (15) potentials. Ellagic acid is a phenolic bioactive compound with high anti-oxidant activity present in plant foods as ellagitannins (16). Ellagitannins are hydrolyzed by the intestinal microflora into ellagic acid and further metabolized to urolithins (17, 18). Ellagic acid showed hypo-glycemic and insulin stimulating effects upon administration to diabetic rats (19, 20). On the other hand, isorhamnetin is a metabolite of quercetin with anti-inflammatory (21), hypoglycemic, and anti-oxidant activities (22). The inhibition of IL-1 $\beta$  as the possible mechanism behind the potential of ellagic acid, urolithins or isorhamnetin on insulin stimulation needs to be explored.

Muscadine (*Vitis rotundifolia*) is a native fruit of the southern part of the United States. It is a good source of ellagic acid and quercetin (23-25). The anti-diabetic activity of muscadine has been demonstrated in an in vivo study (26). Treatment with muscadine extracts inhibited diabetes associated complications such as advanced glycation end products (27, 28) and enzymes related to carbohydrate and lipid metabolism (29). Amla (*Emblica officinalis*) is a fruit native to India and has anti-inflammatory and anti-oxidant properties (30, 31). Amla is a good source of ellagic acid and quercetin (32, 33). In vivo studies in diabetic rats (34) or human subjects (35-38) showed that amla exhibited a strong anti-diabetic activity by lowering blood glucose levels. The studies, however, did not examine the effect of amla on inflammatory cytokines as a potential mechanism involved in lowering the blood glucose.

The objective of the present study was to investigate the effect of ellagic acid, urolithin A, isorhamnetin, or muscadine or amla standardized to their ellagic acid content on glucose-, palmitic acid- or glucose + palmitic acid-induced IL-1 $\beta$  and insulin secretion.

To achieve this objective, the following steps were followed:

- 1. Determine the ellagic acid content in muscadine and amla extracts
- Determine the effect of ellagic acid, urolithin A, isorhamnetin, or muscadine or amla extracts on cell viability of glucose-, palmitate- or glucose+palmitic acid-treated NIT-1 cells
- Investigate the effect of ellagic acid, urolithin A, isorhamnetin, or muscadine or amla extracts on the glucose-, palmitate- or glucose+palmitic acid-induced IL-1β in NIT-1 cells

 Study the effect of ellagic acid, urolithin A, isorhamnetin, or muscadine or amla extracts on the insulin secretion in NIT-1 cells exposed to glucose, palmitate or glucose + palmitic acid.

## CHAPTER 2 LITERATURE REVIEW

## 2.1. Diabetes

"Diabetes is a group of diseases marked by high levels of blood glucose resulting from defects in insulin secretion, insulin action or both" (*39*). It is anticipated that the number of diabetics in the world will increase 1.5-fold from 371 millions in 2012 to 552 millions by 2030 and the USA has one of the highest death rates (183,633/year) from diabetes in the world (*40*). According to the National Diabetes Fact Sheet from CDC, 8.3% (25.8 millions) of Americans are diabetics. Among them, 10.9 millions are those aged above 65 years, 14.7 millions are those aged between 20 and 65 and 215,000 people aged less than 20 years had diabetes in 2010 (*39*). The estimated costs associated with diabetes in the US have risen to \$245 billion in 2012 from \$174 billion in 2007 (*41*). The reports stress the necessity to develop a strategic therapeutic plan associated with dietary management to attenuate the disease and restore insulin activity.

## **2.1.1.** Types of Diabetes

There are basically two types of diabetes, Type 1 diabetes (T1D) and Type 2 diabetes (T2D). T1D is an autoimmune mediated process, which results in the destruction of pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells thereby impairing insulin secretion and leading to hyperglycemia. Exogenous insulin injection is required to control the metabolic disorder (42). T2D is lifestyle-related, developing as a result of excess pressure on  $\beta$ -cells to maintain glucose homeostasis generated by increased energy consumption. The excess calories from carbohydrates induce a hyperinsulinemic condition which leads to chronic insulin resistance. Dietary balance in combination with physical activity and insulin therapy or insulin secretagogue administration can improve the condition (43, 44).

Normal pancreatic tissues contain nearly one million islets (1-2% of total pancreas) and approximately one billion  $\beta$ -cells (50% of islets), of which at least 40% of the  $\beta$ -cell mass is

required for the maintenance of glucose homeostasis (45, 46). Under normal healthy conditions and prediabetic state, the  $\beta$ -cell mass is maintained through the self-replication of  $\beta$ -cells and regeneration from other pancreatic cells. The increased mass helps the  $\beta$ -cells to maintain stable glucose levels and compensate for insulin resistance (47). The stress of continuous hyperglycemic load eventually overwhelms the pancreas, leads to the failure of  $\beta$ -cell functionality and regeneration. The initial hyperinsulinemic conditions ultimately causes other tissues to become insulin resistant which leads to clinical diabetes (45, 48).

Diabetes is associated with 40% - 60% decrease in islet volume (49-51), reduced  $\beta$ -cell area by 24% (52), and 30% lower concentration of pancreatic insulin (50) due to loss in  $\beta$ -cells compared to non-diabetic condition. The defective mitochondria in the  $\beta$ -cells in diabetic condition lead to decrease in the cellular ATP/ADP ratio to  $\leq$  40%. (53).

#### **2.2. Risk factors for diabetes**

Genetics is a non-modifiable risk factor for diabetes. Identification of candidate genes has been postulated as a reliable method to identify genes susceptible to development of the disease. However, it is challenging to segregate a group of common genes as they vary depending on ethnic groups, exposure to environment and gene-environment interactions (*54*). Life style factors such as excessive consumption of high levels of saturated fats, sugar-sweetened beverages and starchy foods, low fiber diets and sedentary lifestyle contribute to the development of diabetes (*55*).

## 2.2.1. Hyperglycemia, free fatty acids and type 2 diabetes

The duration of exposure of  $\beta$ -cells to high concentrations of nutrients such as glucose or fatty acids will determine the effect of the later on the  $\beta$ -cells. Acute exposure to high concentration of nutrients stimulates insulin secretion whereas chronic exposure impairs  $\beta$ -cell function and affects  $\beta$ -cell survival as observed in type 2 diabetic patients (56). Type 2 diabetes

is characterized by a failure to increase  $\beta$ -cell mass that can compensate for the increased demand for insulin (51, 57). The combination of glucose toxicity and lipid toxicity is referred to as glucolipotoxicity.

Pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells are highly responsive to stimuli from glucose in serum. Increase in glucose levels can lead to  $\beta$ -cell hyperactivity to maintain glucose homeostasis. (58). Chronic hyperactivity pressurizes  $\beta$ -cells to adapt to provide sufficient insulin. This process increases the demand for production of more amount of adenosine tri phosphate (ATP) through glycolytic and mitochondrial activity. Hyperactivity of mitochondria increases ROS production. Additionally, the inherent low levels of key anti-oxidant proteins in pancreatic islets make  $\beta$ -cells highly susceptible to metabolic stress (59).

Obesity and hyperlipidemia are the primary environmental risk factors leading to diabetes. Dietary fat and adipose tissue are the source of free fatty acids in plasma. Increased adipose tissue mass under obese conditions increases the concentration of free fatty acids that serves as the major risk factor associated with hyperlipidemia in diabetes (*1-3, 60*). Chronic exposure of  $\beta$ -cells to free fatty acids has shown impaired glucose-stimulated insulin secretion and insulin synthesis (*61*). Moreover, free fatty acids contribute to insulin resistance and also prevent the  $\beta$ -cell response to overcome insulin resistance by secreting more insulin (*62*). The combination of insulin resistance and  $\beta$ -cell dysfunction leads to inability to control blood glucose levels and as a result diabetes develops (*63*). High levels of free fatty acids (FFA) resulting from hyperlipidemia also cause an influx of immune cells such as macrophages and T-cells in the pancreas. Due to this, a low-grade inflammatory process develops through the production of inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 $\beta$  which otherwise is usually transient or milder in individuals that are not at risk of developing type 2 diabetes (*64*).

Long-term exposure to saturated free fatty acids has deleterious effects on  $\beta$ -cells. Cultured human islets exposed to 500  $\mu$ M palmitic acid for 4 days resulted in increased levels of  $\beta$ -cell apoptosis markers, decreased  $\beta$ -cell proliferation and suppression of insulin secretion (65). Rat pancreatic islets exposed to 250  $\mu$ M palmitic acid for 48 h displayed type 2 diabetic characteristics such as decreased insulin synthesis and impaired glucose stimulated insulin secretion in  $\beta$ -cells (66).

## **2.3.** Oxidative stress and β-cells

Imbalance between cellular anti-oxidant levels and superfluous generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) is defined as oxidative stress. The generation of ROS takes place either due to increased demand for ATP leading to incomplete oxygen reduction or by controlled reduction yielding the highly reactive superoxides, hydroxyl radicals and hydrogen peroxide, most of which are degraded by anti-oxidant enzymes such as superoxide dismutase, catalase, glutathione peroxidase and peroxiredoxin (*67, 68*). Free radicals induce chronic degenerative diseases by damaging components such as lipids, proteins and nucleic acids (*69*).

Glucose serves as the source of energy for  $\beta$ -cell, signals the production of insulin within the cell, and provides the signal for insulin secretion (70).  $\beta$ -cells maintain glucose homeostasis by the conversion of stimuli from glucose to insulin secretion (71). During hyperglycemic conditions, increased glucose influx provides the substrate for the increase of mitochondrial respiratory activity and subsequent reduction of molecular oxygen to free radicals yielding superoxide anions (72, 73).

Insulin secretion process is highly susceptible to the ROS. Diets rich in carbohydrates or fatty acids can lead to hyperactivity of respiratory metabolic process and generate ROS (4). Even a fleeting exposure to oxidative stress due to glucolipotoxicity can cause inactivation of mitochondria and interception of signals involved in glucose stimulated insulin secretion (74).

Concurrently, the  $\beta$ -cells are quite frail in their expression of anti-oxidants posing themselves susceptible to fail even to smaller degree of exposure to oxidative stress unlike other organs of the body (75, 76).

## 2.4. Inflammation and β-cells

Inflammation is a response to an injury of a tissue. It is identified by the invasion of immune cells, release of cytokines and damage to tissue structurally and even functionally in a few cases. The positive effects of inflammation include prevention of infection and regeneration of affected tissue. Persistence of inflammation over a long period can induce excess production of cytokines and aggravate the disease (77). Exposure of pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells to hyperglycemia or hyperlipidemia and subsequent oxidative stress can initially stimulate an inflammatory process that helps for the  $\beta$ -cell repair and regeneration. Uncontrolled levels of high glucose or free fatty acids can cause chronic inflammation which involves infiltration of immune cells, release of cytokines and eventually result in apoptosis followed by fibrosis (6). The slow development of the inflammatory process and the rapid clearance of the dead cell debris by the immune cells offers resistance to rapid detection of inflammation in vivo (78). Among the group of inflammatory cytokines that affect  $\beta$ -cell functionality, IL-1 $\beta$  is the most prominent one (8).

## **2.4.1. Interleukin-1**β (IL-1β) and β-cells

Cytokines are products and effectors of inflammatory process that cause oxidative stress and cell dysfunction (79, 80). IL-1 $\beta$  is the major proinflammatory cytokine produced under stress conditions of high concentrations of glucose or free fatty acids. The cytokine can enhance its production by auto stimulation (8). Endogenous IL-1 $\beta$  released by  $\beta$ -cells can attract macrophages that can contribute to the production of additional amount of IL-1 $\beta$ . Increase in IL-1 $\beta$  concentration ultimately results in faulty insulin secretory process and  $\beta$ -cell failure. Furthermore, it can also induce the expression of other cytotoxic factors that lead to  $\beta$ -cell destruction (9, 81).

IL-1 $\beta$  mediated inflammatory process can be examined by an initial oxidative stress followed by down regulation of insulin signal transduction. This effect can be worse in the presence of other cytokines such as tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ) and interleukin-6 (IL-6) (*10*). Exposure to the cytokines, TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6 released by adipocytes due to inflammation can impair  $\beta$ -cell functionality (*82*, *83*).

IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$  released from infiltrating immune cells in diabetic conditions can cause significant destruction of  $\beta$ -cells (84). IL-1 $\beta$  toxicity is amplified in the presence of TNF- $\alpha$  and both IL-1 $\beta$  and TNF- $\alpha$  can induce the activation of apoptotic pathways (85). Pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells cultured with recombinant TNF- $\alpha$  exhibited impaired insulin action. (86). However the negative effect of TNF- $\alpha$  was neutralized when the cells were treated with salicylates.

High glucose or free fatty acids cleave pro IL-1 $\beta$  to generate IL-1 $\beta$  (73, 87-93). Caspase-1 activation by saturated free fatty acids and resulting cleaving of pro IL-1 $\beta$  occurs through mitochondrial ROS production in NLRP3 dependent manner (94). The generation of IL-1 $\beta$  by high glucose or free fatty acids is illustrated in Figure 1.

The first step of IL-1 $\beta$  activation involves the accumulation of electrons resulting from catabolism of excess glucose or fatty acids on the electron carriers such as nictotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NADH), flavin adenine dinucleotide (FADH<sub>2</sub>). The electrons are then transported to the oxygen molecules involved in mitochondrial respiratory chain. Free radicals are produced through the single electron reduction of oxygen molecule leading to ROS that cause oxidative stress (*73*, *87*).

Thioredoxin plays an important role in cell proliferation and prevention of apoptosis. In normal cells, thioredoxin binds the thioredoxin interacting protein (TXNIP) thereby masking its availability for interaction with nucleotide binding domain and leucine rich repeat containing protein 3 (NLRP3), an aggregation of proteins that mediates the autocatalytic activation of cysteine protease, caspase-1 (88). However, ROS produced by oxidative stress sets the TXNIP free enabling its binding to NLRP3 (89). Moreover, a 10-fold increase in TXNIP protein levels has been related to an equivalent rise in the cleavage of the apoptotic protein, caspase-3. This effect of TXNIP also signifies its involvement in  $\beta$ -cell dysfunction (90).

The activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome protein complex requires the efflux of K<sup>+</sup> ions from the cell. During hyperactivity of  $\beta$ -cell, extracellular ATP levels increase and lead to activation of the P2X7 receptor. Activated P2X7 receptor paves the way for efflux of K<sup>+</sup> ions from the cell which can be observed by the drop in K<sup>+</sup> ions in  $\beta$ -cell to 70 mM during stress conditions compared to the concentration around 140 mM under normal conditions (*91*).

Another protein involved in this pathway is the apoptosis-associated speck-like protein (ASC). The shift in cytoplasmic K<sup>+</sup> ions result in the interaction of the NLRP3 and ASC followed by the interaction of ASC and procaspase 1 through their caspase recruiting domains (CARDs). It results in the dimerization of procaspase 1 to active caspase 1 and the cleavage of inactive pro IL-1 $\beta$  is facilitated by active caspase 1. The IL-1 $\beta$  is then released by the  $\beta$ -cell which is mediated by an influx of Ca<sup>+2</sup> ions (*92, 93*).

The IL-1 $\beta$  released into extracellular matrix can re-enter the cell and induce the activation of pro IL-1 $\beta$  by an auto stimulation process. This uncontrolled production of IL-1 $\beta$  leads to a greater degree of inflammation and a vicious cycle of inflammatory process (95).



Figure 1. Activation and release of IL-1 $\beta$  by glucose or free fatty acids (73, 87-93).

Thereafter, the released IL-1 $\beta$  destabilizes the insulin production activity of  $\beta$ -cell and prompts the activation of NF- $\kappa$ B and its nuclear translocation resulting in DNA fragmentation. Such phenomenon was observed in the pancreatic sections of type 2 diabetic patients due to the

IL-1 $\beta$  released by  $\beta$ -cells. Moreover, induction of nuclear translocation of NF- $\kappa$ B by IL-1 $\beta$  on its own or by combining with IFN- $\gamma$  has also been reported (*11, 96*).

Keeping the above information in view, the deleterious effects of inflammatory cytokines, oxidative stress and IL-1 $\beta$  in particular, therapies aimed at suppression of these cytokines may be beneficial in conserving  $\beta$ -cell functionality.

## **2.5. Diabetes Management**

## **2.5.1.** Therapeutic approach

Diabetes has no cure. Several short and long term therapies aimed at preserving  $\beta$ -cell function and improvement of insulin secretion are currently in use. These include insulin injections and oral anti-diabetic agents such as sulfonylurea, biguanides and alpha-glucosidase inhibitors. Diabetic conditions have been reported to be restored upon usage of treatments over a short term. Besides, such treatments have been observed to be detrimental to the  $\beta$ -cell mass (97). Elevated cytoplasmic Ca<sup>+2</sup> levels can cause excitotoxicity of  $\beta$ -cells and depolarize them by direct closure of K<sub>ATP</sub> channels upon long term treatment with drugs such as sulphonylurea. This can lead to abnormal activity of  $\beta$ -cells (98).

On the other hand, long term treatments proved to be effective by exerting stimulating effects on  $\beta$ -cell proliferation. However, the associated side effects such as hypoglycemia and weight gain due to sulfonylureas, gut problems, liver toxicity due to thiazolidinediones and skin rashes due to insulin injection in some cases and cost are the limiting factors (99-103). Immunosuppression therapy by the usage of pancreatic islet cell implantation increases the metabolic stress on  $\beta$ -cells and subsequently drains their ability to produce insulin. These effects are the limiting factors in using islet implantation as an absolute cure for diabetes (104). Considering the above factors, dietary approach can be a promising alternative to mitigate the deleterious effects of inflammation in diabetes.

#### 2.5.2. Dietary approach

The role of diet in diabetes management is quite significant. For decades, traditional medicines from plants formed the main sources of dietary management of diabetes before the introduction of therapeutic treatment with insulin (105). Consumption of fruits and vegetables has been associated with decreased occurrence of chronic oxidative stress-related diseases such as diabetes, cancer and cardiovascular diseases, besides an enhanced cellular anti-oxidant defense (106-108). Plant foods are good alternatives to synthetic anti-diabetic drugs because the side effects associated with plant food use are negligible (30, 109). Phenolics and flavonoids are the focus of anti-diabetic dietary compounds. This research is focused on muscadine and amla as sources of dietary bioactives for type 2 diabetes management.

## 2.5.3. Muscadine or amla bioactives and diabetes

**2.5.3.1. Muscadine** *Vitis rotundifolia* is a grape that is native to southeastern region of the United States. Muscadine has been cultivated since the  $16^{th}$  century and is considered as a southern specialty product. It grows over a wide range extending from Delaware to the Gulf of Mexico and towards west from Missouri to Texas (110). The highly resistant nature of muscadine to Pierce's disease and thriving ability in soil and climatic conditions unfavorable for other grape varieties places it in a unique position in contributing to the economy of southeastern states (23).

Muscadine skins are rich in phenolics such as ellagic acid, myricetin, quercetin and kaempferol whereas gallic acid, catechin and epicatechin are the major phenolics in seeds (*23, 111*). Yi et al. identified ellagic acid, quercetin, myricetin and kaempferol in muscadine grapes (*24*) and the presence of those compounds were also reported by Wang et al. in muscadine pomace extracts (*69*). The concentration of ellagic acid in various products of muscadine has been studied to range between 36-91 mg/100 g fresh weight in fruits (*25*), 8-84 mg/L in juices

and 2-65 mg/L in wines (112). Muscadine grapes are consumed as juices, jams, jellies, or wines (69, 113). They are a good source of dietary fiber (114). The rich aroma and unique taste are the positive factors, whereas the tough skins are the limiting factor for muscadine to be accepted by the consumer the way other grapes have been accepted.

Greenspan et al. reported that muscadine skin extracts dose-dependently inhibited the release of TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-6, and superoxides stimulated by LPS (lipopolysaccharide) in blood mononuclear cells (*110*). Muscadine pomace extracts showed dose-dependent DPPH free radical scavenging activity (*69*). Investigation on the anti-diabetic efficacy of muscadine juice, wine or dealcoholized wine in type 2 diabetic subjects showed that consumption of dealcoholized muscadine grape wine for 28 days altered blood insulin levels in type 2 diabetic subjects and the fasting blood glucose: insulin ratio increased from 8.5 to 13.1 (*26*). A low glucose: insulin ratio of less than 7 is predictive of insulin resistance and dealcoholized wine or juice did not show any effect on fasting blood glucose, insulin, or glycated hemoglobin levels, whereas the triacylglycerols and low density lipoprotein levels have been reduced.

Hyperglycemia increases protein glycation and formation of advanced glycation end products (AGEs). Dicarbonyls such as glyoxal and methylglyoxal react with proteins to form AGEs that have been reported to be a causative factor for diabetic complications (*115*). Increased free radicals production, altered gene expression and release of proinflammatory cytokines are the diabetic complications promoted by AGEs. Moreover, the concentration of methyglyoxal in diabetic patients was found to be five times higher than in healthy ones (*116*). Wang et al. investigated AGEs inhibition and methylglyoxal scavenging activities of muscadine extracts (*27*). AGEs generation was inhibited by approximately 53% and methylglyoxal by 46% thereby suggesting the beneficial effects of muscadine in preventing AGEs associated chronic diseases such as diabetes. The suppressive effect of ethanolic extracts of muscadine skins on AGEs formation has been reported (28). Muscadine skin extracts inhibited the AGEs formation by 40%, but did not affect methyglyoxal-mediated glycation of albumin. You et al. reported the potential inhibitory effect of muscadine extracts on carbohydrate hydrolyzing and lipid metabolizing enzymes that are linked to play a role in diabetes. (29). The study examined the inhibition of  $\alpha$ -glucosidase and pancreatic lipase inhibition by phenolics in muscadine extracts. Among the phenolics of muscadine extracts tested, ellagic acid and quercetin were reported to be the most potent enzyme inhibitors.

**2.5.3.2. Amla (Indian gooseberry)** *Emblica officinalis*, commonly called amla or Indian gooseberry, belongs to the *Euphorbeaceae* family. The edible fruit is generally consumed in raw, cooked or pickled forms. In the traditional Indian medicine or Ayurveda, asthma, diarrhea, rheumatic pains can be treated with amla (117, 118). The anti-inflammatory, anti-oxidant and radical scavenging activity of amla has been observed in studies on animal models (30, 31).

Amla is a good source of gallic acid (32), ellagic acid (33), quercetin (33) and quercetin-3-O- $\beta$ -D-glucoside (119). Oral administration of commercial enzymatic or polyphenol rich extracts of amla to diabetic rats dose-dependently reduced the expression of creatinine and 5hydroxy-methyfurfural that are indicators of oxidative stress (120). Diabetic rats fed with amla juice for 8 weeks had higher plasma levels of anti-oxidant enzymes, superoxide dismutase and catalase than rats that were not fed with amla juice. Amla juice administration also attenuated hyperglycemia and hypercholesterolemia in the diabetic rats (34).

Amla has been used to treat type 2 diabetes patients. Consumption of amla juice by diabetic patients for 3 months along with other plant extracts showed reduced fasting blood

glucose levels (*35*). Diabetic subjects given with 500 mg tablets consisting of 25% amla for 3 months showed reduced fasting blood sugar levels (*36*). Consumption of medium sized amla fruit (35 g) for 2 months induced hypoglycemia (*37*). Oral consumption of amla powder for 21 days dose-dependently decreased blood glucose and cholesterol levels and improved the levels of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol in type 2 diabetes patients (*38*).

The above reported studies support amla as a promising dietary source for attenuating diabetic condition. The mechanism by which amla improves diabetic condition and the bioactive compounds responsible for such an activity, need to be investigated at the molecular level.

**2.5.3.3. Ellagic acid and urolithins** Ellagic acid exists in food as hydrolysable tannins of the non-flavonoid polyphenol group known as ellagitannins, which are a combination of hexahydroxydiphenic acid and glucose. Hydrolysis of ellagitannins sets the acid group free, which thereafter undergoes spontaneous cyclation and through the formation of internal lactone bridges, yields ellagic acid. The in vitro high anti-oxidant activity exhibited by ellagitannins is attributed to the phenolic hydroxyls groups in the ortho position of their structure (*16*).



Figure 2. Ellagic acid structure.

Figure 3. Urolithin A.

Studies on the physiological changes of ellagic acid from different portions of intestine had confirmed its release from ellagitannins in the small intestine and the microbial transformation to urolithins in jejunum, where they are absorbed. Ellagic acid metabolize into tetra, tri, di and monohydroxy-dibenzopyrazone derivatives through the loss of lactone rings of ellagic acid and successive removal of hydroxyls, forming the di and mono forms usually referred to as urolithin A and B, respectively (*16*, *17*, *121*).

The rate of conversion of ellagic acid to its metabolites depends on the composition of gut microorganisms and can differ based on an individual's microbial profile (*18*). Cerda et al. reported that concentrations of ellagic acid can reach up to 100  $\mu$ M in the intestine. Despite such higher concentrations of ellagic acid in the gastrointestinal tract, most of the ellagic acid is converted to metabolites. The plasma concentration of ellagic acid metabolites including urolithin A and B in plasma can reach up to 5  $\mu$ M (*121*).

Ellagic acid is bioavailable at micromolar concentrations. Consumption of 180 ml pomegranate juice containing 25mg ellagic acid by a human subject showed that ellagic acid concentration in plasma was 31.9 ng/ml (0.1  $\mu$ M) after 1h of consumption and eliminated after 4 h. Low bioavailability of ellagic acid was attributed to its poor water solubility and transformation by intestinal bacteria to metabolites (*122-124*). Twenty healthy volunteers were fed with 40 mg ellagic acid capsules. Plasma concentration of ellagic acid was 30-50 ng/ml (0.1-0.2  $\mu$ M) after 15 min and 200 ng/ml (0.7  $\mu$ M) after 1h. Mean serum elimination half-life was around 8.4h (*125*).

The maximum plasma level of urolithin A was reported to range between 14 - 25  $\mu$ M after 6 – 8h and varied among volunteers confirming the metabolism of ellagic acid into urolithin A and B (*126*). The anti-diabetic activity of ellagic acid in vivo has been reported in diabetic rats. Ellagic acid administration for 35 days restored the plasma insulin that was suppressed by streptozotocin and decreased the streptozotocin-induced increase of plasma glucose, blood

glycosylated hemoglobin and hexokinase activity (19). Oral administration of ellagic acid to streptozotocin-nicotinamide-induced diabetic rats dose-dependently inhibited plasma glucose levels. Maximum reduction of glucose by ellagic acid was at 2 h. Ellagic acid stimulation of  $\beta$ -cell for increased insulin secretion was proposed to be the possible mechanism behind the hypoglycemic effect of ellagic acid (127).

The bioavailability and in vivo anti-diabetic activity of ellagic acid has been reported in earlier studies. However, investigation on the attenuation of diabetes development by ellagic acid in vitro can help to elucidate the mechanism involved in its anti-diabetic activity.

**2.5.3.4. Isorhamnetin** Isorhamnetin (3, 4', 5, 7-tetrahydroxy-3'-methoxyflavone) is an active flavonol aglycone and metabolite of quercetin. Onions, apples, tea or red wine are among the best sources of quercetin (*128*). Oral administration of the isorhamnetin diglucoside from mustard leaf to diabetic rats lowered blood glucose and 5-hydroxymethylfurfural expressing anti-diabetic and anti-oxidant activities. (*22*). However, intraperitonal administration did not show any such inhibition. It has been hypothesized that the observed inhibitory activity of isorhamnetin diglucoside might have been due to the aglycone form, isorhamnetin formed during metabolic conversion in the gut. Intraperitoneal administration of isorhamnetin exhibited similar effects as observed by oral administration of isorhamnetin diglucoside.



Figure 4. Isorhamnetin structure.

The concentration of quercetin or its metabolites at 10 $\mu$ M tested against IL-1 $\beta$ -induced nitrite production and insulin secretion suppression in rat pancreatic cells showed that quercetin was effective but quercetin metabolites were not (*129*). Interestingly, all the metabolites considered were glucosides including isorhamnetin 3-glucuronide, suggesting that reduced efficacy was associated with glucoronidation (*22*). Aglycone forms of quercetin metabolites have anti-inflammatory and anti-oxidant properties. Lipopolysaccharide-stimulated IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$  mRNA levels along with nitric oxide synthase in macrophages were suppressed by quercetin and isorhamnetin at 10 $\mu$ M level, but quercetin-3-glucuronide did not (*21*). Under physiological conditions, quercetin glycosides in foods are metabolized to sulfates and glucuronides and aglycones of quercetin and isorhamnetin (*130*). Quercetin is bioavailable in its original form or as a metabolite. The maximum attainable plasma level of pure quercetin has been estimated to be 0.1 to 0.4  $\mu$ M (*131*). Keeping this in view, studies should examine the efficacy of quercetin or its metabolites such as isorhamnetin as diabetic attenuators at concentrations lower than 10  $\mu$ M.

## CHAPTER 3 MATERIALS AND METHODS

## 3.1. Reagents

HPLC grade methanol and acetic acid were purchased from Fisher Scientific (Fair Lawn, NJ). Acetonitrile was purchased from J.T Baker (Phillipsburg, NJ) and hydrochloric acid was obtained from VWR (Bridgeport, NJ). Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) was purchased from RESEARCH ORGANICS (Cleveland, OH). Urolithin A (UR) was a gift from Dr. Tomas Barberan, F.A., (CEBAS, Spain). Glucose (Glu), palmitic acid (PA), ellagic acid (EA), isorhamnetin (IS), and bovine serum albumin (BSA) were obtained from SIGMA-ALDRICH (St. Louis, MO). F12k medium for NIT-1 cells was obtained from ATCC (Manassas, VA) and fetal bovine serum (FBS) was purchased from ATLANTA<sub>®</sub> Biologicals (Lawrencevillie, GA). Sodium bicarbonate and glutamate used for medium preparation were purchased from Life Technologies (Grand Island, NY). Ison variety of muscadine (MS) pomace was obtained from Peliciana Cellars (Jackson, LA) and frozen fruits of amla (AM) were purchased from Deep Foods Inc. (Union, NJ).

#### **3.2. Fruit extracts preparation**

MS pomaces or AM fruits were blended, freeze dried and stored at - 20°C until use. Five grams of freeze dried MS or AM was taken and dissolved in 100 ml of 80% methanol + 20% 6N HCl. Acid hydrolysis was carried out in a water bath (Labline orbit microprocessor shaker bath) at 60°C and 200 rpm for 2 h for the conversion of flavonoid glycosides to aglycones. Samples were then sonicated (Branson 2510, Danbury, CT) for 10 min to maximize the extraction (*111*). The extracts were vacuum filtered through a Whatman No.1 filter paper using a Buchner funnel. The solvents were removed in a rotary evaporator (Buchi Rotavapor, New Castle, DE) and neutralized with 1N NaOH. The resultant extracts were freeze dried (Genesis 35 XL lyophilizer, VirTis Co., NY) and stored at -20°C until analysis.

#### **3.3.** Determination of ellagic acid content in muscadine or amla extracts

Agilent 1100 series HPLC (Agilent, Santa Carla, CA) equipped with an Agilent Zorbax SB-C18 column (5  $\mu$ m, 4.6 x 250 mm) connected to a G1315B Diode Array UV Detector was used to estimate the ellagic acid content. Phenolic acids profiles and contents in MS or AM extracts were analyzed using the method of Pastrana et al. with modifications (*111*). One mg of freeze dried extract MS or AM was dissolved in 1ml of 80% methanol + 20% 6N HCl and filtered through a 0.2  $\mu$ m nylon syringe filter (Fisher, GA) before injecting into HPLC. Three mobile phases were used namely, solvent A, methanol/acetic acid/water (10:2:88, v/v/v); solvent B, acetonitrile; and, solvent C, water. All the solvents were filtered through 0.2  $\mu$ m filter paper and sonicated (Branson 2510, Danbury, CT) for 10 min prior to use.

Gradient elution was performed as follows: at 0 min, 100% solvent A; at 5 min, 90% solvent A and 10% solvent B; at 25 min, 30% solvent A and 70% solvent B; at 30 min, 100% solvent C; at 35 min, 100% solvent C; at 36 min, 100% solvent A and 4 min postrun with 100% solvent A. Twenty  $\mu$ L of sample was injected, the column temperature was maintained at 40°C and the flow rate was 1mL/min. The detection was done at 280 nm using a diode array detector (DAD) (*113*). The samples were run in triplicates and peaks and concentration of ellagic acid in fruit extracts were confirmed by matching with the retention times obtained by running the calibration curve of ellagic acid standard.

## 3.4. NIT-1 cell line

This study was conducted using NIT-1, a pancreatic  $\beta$ -cell line developed from nonobese diabetic (NOD) mice, *Mus musculus* that is transgenic for the SV40 T antigen (a protooncogen capable of transforming a lot of cell types) under control of the insulin promoter and spontaneously develops beta cell adenomas. These cells showed a low percent (5%) of glucagon, no somatostatin and positive for insulin when stained at passage 18 indicating that they are a good strain to be employed for in vitro studies (*132*). The cell line was obtained from Dr. Sita Aggarwal (William Hansel Cancer Prevention Laboratory, Pennington Biomedical Research Center, Baton Rouge, LA). The cells were cultured and maintained in F12k medium (ATCC, Manassas, VA) containing 10% FBS, 2% sodium bicarbonate and 1% glutamate.

## **3.5.** Conjugation of palmitic acid with bovine serum albumin (PA-BSA)

The conjugate of PA with BSA was prepared as described previously (*133, 134*). Thirty percent BSA was prepared in DPBS (Dulbecco's Phosphate Buffered Saline) that contained 2.5% HEPES. The pH of the solution was adjusted to 7.2 with 1M KOH and then sterile-filtered through a 0.2 µm syringe filter.

A stock solution of 12.5 mM PA was prepared before conjugating with BSA. Ten mg of cell culture grade PA was aseptically weighed and dissolved in hexane at 9% of final volume of stock. The mixture was vortexed for few seconds and then dried under nitrogen to obtain a white, chalky powder. The salt thus obtained was immediately re-dissolved in warm sterile water at 9% of final volume of stock and combined with 30% BSA at 91% of final stock volume. The resultant conjugate of PA was flushed with argon, aliquoted into sterile vials and stored at -20°C.

## **3.6.** Cell viability assay

NIT-1 cells were seeded at 10,000 cells per well in 96-well plate and incubated for 24 h before treatment. Stocks solutions of EA and IS were prepared in methanol and stock solutions of UR, MS, and AM were prepared in DMSO. Stocks were diluted with medium to obtain concentrations of 100  $\mu$ M and 1  $\mu$ M before cell treatment. Glu stock was prepared in the medium and sterile-filtered with 0.2  $\mu$ m nylon syringe filter (Fisher, GA). Cells were treated with 33.3 mM Glu, 250  $\mu$ M PA, or a combination of 33.3 mM Glu and 250  $\mu$ M PA and incubated for 24 h at 37°C with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Thereafter, 0.01, 0.05, 1 and 10  $\mu$ M of EA, UR, IS, or MS or AM extracts containing 0.01, 0.05, 1 and 10  $\mu$ M equivalent of EA were added to the cells

followed by incubation for 72 h. Cell viability was then determined after a total incubation of 96 h using the MTS assay with CellTiter 96  $A_{queous}$  One solution (Promega, Madison, WI) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Absorbance value of the MTS assays were read in a Bio-Rad Model 680 micro plate reader (Hercules, CA). All the treatments were performed in triplicates and the results are presented as percentage of control.

## 3.7. Interaction between inducers and inhibitors of inflammation in NIT-1 cells

To study the effect of the inducer (Glu, PA or Glu+PA) and inhibitor (EA, UR, IS, MS or AM) on inflammatory markers, 3 x  $10^5$  NIT-1 cells were seeded in 6-well plates and incubated for 24 h in a humidified atmosphere at 37°C with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. The cells were treated with 33.3 mM Glu or 250  $\mu$ M PA or combination of 33.3 mM Glu and 250  $\mu$ M PA for 24 h. Thereafter, 0.01, 0.05, 1 or 10  $\mu$ M of EA, UR, IS, or MS or AM containing 0.01, 0.05, 1 or 10  $\mu$ M equivalent of EA were added to the wells followed by incubation for 72 h. The supernatants were removed and stored at -80°C until further analysis. All the treatments were performed in triplicates.

## **3.8.** Analysis of IL-1β

IL-1 $\beta$  levels in the supernatants of control and treated cells were analyzed by sandwich ELISA using commercially available kits from Peprotech (Rock Hill, NJ) according to the manufacturer's instructions. All of the samples were tested in duplicates.

## **3.9.** Analysis of insulin concentration

The supernatants from control or treated cells were analyzed for insulin secretion using the commercially available ultra-sensitive mouse insulin ELISA kit from Crystalchem (Downers Grove, IL). The assay was performed according to manufacturer's protocol and all the samples were analyzed in duplicates.

## 3.10. Statistical analysis

Results are expressed as means  $\pm$  standard deviation. Statistical analysis was performed using Analysis of variance (ANOVA). Separation of means and difference between control and treatments was determined by Tukey's analysis (SAS, version 9.3). Statistical significance was set at P-value < 0.05.

## CHAPTER 4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

## 4.1. Ellagic acid content in muscadine and amla extracts

To quantify the EA content in MS and AM, HPLC analysis was performed. The results are presented in Fig. 4.1. EA eluted at 12.6 min. HPLC analysis showed that the EA content in MS and AM was  $9.4 \pm 2.3$  mg/g and  $19.4 \pm 1.5$  mg/g, respectively. On a fresh weight (F.W.) basis, the estimated EA was 88.23 mg/100g in MS and 219 mg/100g in AM. Pastrana-Bonilla identified ellagic acid, myricetin, quercetin and kaempferol as major phenolics in MS skins (*111*). Gallic acid and ellagic acid are the major phenolics in AM (*32, 33*). Quercetin is a minor phenolic in AM (*33*). The range of EA concentration in MS found in this study was 36-91 mg/100 g on F.W. basis and fit within the range reported by Torronen et al (*25*). The average EA content in different varieties of MS was 16.5 mg/100g of F.W. EA content in Ison variety of MS was 8.7 mg/100g F.W in whole fruit and 22 mg/100g of F.W in skins alone (*111*). Paltanov et al. reported that HPLC analysis of commercially available extract of AM showed EA content between 2.42 and 1.29 mg/g (*135*). Thin layer chromatographic (TLC) analysis of water extract of AM showed that the ellagic acid content in AM was 6.45 g/100 g F.W (*32*).



Figure 4.1.A. HPLC profile of muscadine fruit extract. EA eluted at 12.6 min.



Figure 4.1.B. HPLC profile of amla fruit extract. EA eluted at 12.6 min.

The variation in the amount of ellagic acid among different studies may be associated to the difference in cultivars, growing conditions and harvest time (*136*).

# 4.2. Effect of EA, UR, IS, MS or AM on the viability of NIT-1 cells treated with Glu, PA or Glu+PA

To evaluate the effects of Glu or PA on cell viability, NIT-1 cells were treated with Glu, PA or Glu+PA for 96 h. Cell viability was analyzed by MTS assay and expressed as percentage of viable cells in the control. The results are presented in Fig 4.2.1.

The solubility of free fatty acids is high in aqueous solutions when conjugated to BSA. Moreover, BSA contains two high affinity binding sites for long-chain free fatty acids (*137*). Therefore, PA conjugated to BSA was used in the experiments. To confirm if BSA by itself did not affect cell viability, cells were treated with BSA alone and compared with control. The results showed that BSA did not affect NIT-1 cell viability and Glu, PA or Glu+PA treatment exhibited a proliferative effect, which however was not significantly different from control. Nevertheless, neither Glu nor PA was toxic to NIT-1 cells. The results in this study with PA were in contrast to the reported decrease in cell viability and increased apoptosis in the pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells treated with PA for 24 h (*138*). The present study was conducted for 96 h and inhibition of cell viability in PA treated cells was not observed.

The effect of EA, UR, IS or extracts of MS or AM along with Glu, PA or Glu+PA on cell viability was also tested. NIT-1 cells were exposed to Glu, PA or Glu+PA for 24 h and treated with EA, UR, IS or extracts of MS or AM followed by 72 h incubation. The concentrations of the EA, UR or IS tested were 0.01, 0.05, 1 and 10  $\mu$ M, respectively. For the treatments with extracts of MS or AM, equivalent concentrations of ellagic acid quantified by HPLC were used. Cell viability was analyzed using the MTS assay and expressed as percentage of control viable cells. The results are presented in Fig 4.2.2. to 4.2.6.

The bioavailability of phenolics dictates their efficacy as against chronic diseases (16). Therefore, the concentrations tested in the study were in the range of bioavailable levels of EA (0.1  $\mu$ M - 0.7  $\mu$ M) as reported in two studies (122, 125). The bioavailability of UR differed among studies. One study reported the maximum attainable level as 5  $\mu$ M (121), whereas another study reported a range between 14 - 25  $\mu$ M (126). The concentrations tested in the present study were in the range of those reports.

The viability of NIT-1 cells incubated with Glu and treated with EA, UR, IS, MS or AM was not significantly different from the viability of control cells. A dose-dependent decrease in viability was observed with increase in concentration of EA, UR, IS, MS or AM. However, the viability of treated cells was not significantly different from control cells except for cells treated with 10  $\mu$ M IS (Fig.4.2.4), suggesting that the compounds were not cytotoxic to NIT-1 cells. The observed dose-dependent decrease in cell viability in the present study is similar to the reported increase in cell death from 3.8% at higher dilution of muscadine skin extract of 1:400 to 8.7% at a lower dilution of 1:100 (*110*). The difference in response of the bioactive compounds at

different concentrations may be associated to the hormetic effect of these antioxidants that show a stimulatory effect at low concentration and toxic effect at high concentration (*139, 140*).

The viability of cells exposed to PA or Glu+PA and treated with EA, UR, IS, MS or AM showed that there was no significant difference in cell viability compared to control cells. The concentrations (0.1-10 $\mu$ M) tested either showed proliferative effect or did not significantly inhibit NIT-1 cell viability. The dose-dependent decrease in cell viability was similar to the response observed with Glu and EA, UR, IS, MS or AM-treated NIT-1 cells.



Figure 4.2.1. Effects of 33.3mM Glu, 250  $\mu$ M PA, 33.3mM Glu + 250  $\mu$ M PA, or BSA on the viability of NIT-1 cells. Cells were incubated with Glu, PA, Glu+PA or BSA for 96 h and the viability was determined by the MTS assay. The values are expressed as percentage of untreated control. Results are presented as mean  $\pm$  S.D, (n=3).


Figure 4.2.2. Effects of 33.3mM Glu, 250  $\mu$ M PA or 33.3mM Glu + 250  $\mu$ M PA and different concentrations of EA on the viability of NIT-1 cells. Cells were incubated with Glu, PA, Glu+PA or BSA for 24 h and EA (0.01-10 $\mu$ M) was added followed by additional incubation for 72 h. The viability was determined by the MTS assay. The values are expressed as percentage of untreated control. Results are presented as mean ± S.D, (n=3).



Figure 4.2.3. Effects of 33.3mM Glu, 250  $\mu$ M PA or 33.3mM Glu + 250  $\mu$ M PA and different concentrations of UR on the viability of NIT-1 cells. Cells were incubated with Glu, PA, Glu+PA or BSA for 24 h and UR (0.01-10 $\mu$ M) was added followed by additional incubation for 72 h. Cell viability was determined by the MTS assay. The values are expressed as percentage of untreated control. Results are presented as mean  $\pm$  S.D, (n=3).



Figure 4.2.4. Effects of 33.3mM Glu, 250  $\mu$ M PA or 33.3mM Glu + 250  $\mu$ M PA and different concentrations of IS on the viability of NIT-1 cells. Cells were incubated with Glu, PA, Glu+PA or BSA for 24 h and IS (0.01-10 $\mu$ M) was added followed by additional incubation for 72 h. Cell viability was determined by the MTS assay The values are expressed as percentage of untreated control. Results are presented as mean ± S.D, (n=3).



Figure 4.2.5. Effects of 33.3mM Glu, 250  $\mu$ M PA or 33.3mM Glu + 250  $\mu$ M PA and different concentrations of MS on the viability of NIT-1 cells. Cells were incubated with Glu, PA, Glu+PA or BSA for 24 h and MS (0.01-10 $\mu$ M) was added followed by additional incubation for 72 h. Cell viability was determined by the MTS assay. The values are expressed as percentage of untreated control. Results are presented as mean  $\pm$  S.D, (n=3).



Figure 4.2.6. Effects of 33.3mM Glu, 250  $\mu$ M PA or 33.3mM Glu + 250  $\mu$ M PA and different concentrations of AM on the viability of NIT-1 cells. Cells were incubated with Glu, PA, Glu+PA or BSA for 24 h and AM (0.01-10 $\mu$ M) was added followed by additional incubation for 72 h. Cell viability was determined by the MTS assay. The values are expressed as percentage of untreated control. Results are presented as mean  $\pm$  S.D, (n=3).

#### 4.3. Effect of EA, UR, IS, MS or AM on Glu-induced IL-1β

To observe the effect of EA, UR, IS, MS or AM on Glu-induced IL-1 $\beta$ , ELISA was performed to determine the IL-1 $\beta$  concentration in the supernatants. The results are presented in Fig. 4.3 and reported as IL-1 $\beta$  (% of control). Exposure to 33.3 mM Glu significantly increased (P < 0.05) the levels of IL-1 $\beta$  by 38.29 ± 1.85 % compared to control. The observed results in the present study are in agreement with the reported significant increase of IL-1 $\beta$  levels at glucose concentrations higher than 11mM (*11*). Donath et al. reported that IL-1 $\beta$  has been identified as the major proinflammatory cytokine produced in response to high concentrations of glucose or free fatty acids (8). Treatment with EA, MS or AM showed significant (p < 0.05) dose-dependent inhibition of IL-1 $\beta$ , whereas none of the concentrations (0.01-10  $\mu$ M) of UR or IS tested showed any significant inhibition. EA at concentrations between 0.01 and 10µM significantly inhibited (P < 0.05) IL-1 $\beta$  secretion (Fig 4.3.1). At nanomolar concentrations of EA, IL-1 $\beta$  levels were equal to that of control and the maximum inhibition was observed at 1µM of EA with IL-1 $\beta$  reduced by 80 ± 3.4 % of control. Plant phenolics quench free radicals. The mechanism by which EA suppressed IL-1 $\beta$  may be associated with the inhibition of oxidative stress and subsequent attenuation of inflammatory cytokines (*68*).

The results in Fig 4.3.2 and 4.3.3. show that none of the concentrations of UR or IS tested had any significant inhibitory effect on IL-1 $\beta$  induced by Glu. The low antioxidant potential of UR compared to its parent compound EA may have been associated with the inability of UR to inhibit IL-1 $\beta$  (*141*).

Fig. 4.3.4 and 4.3.5 show that EA-rich MS or AM dose-dependently inhibited IL-1 $\beta$  similar to EA. IL-1 $\beta$  was significantly inhibited (P < 0.05) in cells treated with MS, whereas AM showed significant inhibition only at 1 and 10  $\mu$ M. MS or AM containing 10  $\mu$ M equivalent EA inhibited IL-1 $\beta$  by 89.6 ± 1.6% or 68.3 ± 1.7%, respectively compared to control. MS skin extract standardized to its ellagic acid dose-dependently inhibited lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-induced IL-1 $\beta$  in blood mononuclear cells (*110*).

A low-grade inflammatory process precedes the development of diabetes and can be observed before the onset of the disease (10, 142). The time of exposure, concentration and composition of the nutrients available in humans are the factors that influence the increase of IL-1 $\beta$  concentration (143). The results in the present study show that NIT-1 cells exposed to 33.3 mM Glu induced IL-1 $\beta$  secretion. Treatment with EA, MS or AM dose-dependently inhibited IL-1 $\beta$ , whereas the treatment with metabolites, UR or IS was not effective.



Figure 4.3.1. Effect of ellagic acid (EA) at different concentrations on glucose (Glu)-induced IL-1 $\beta$  levels in NIT-1 cells. Cells were incubated with Glu for 24 h and EA (0.01-10 $\mu$ M) was added followed by additional incubation for 72 h. IL-1 $\beta$  concentration was measured by ELISA. The values are expressed as percentage of untreated control. Results are presented as mean ± S.D, (n=2). Letters with different superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05) among groups.



Figure 4.3.2. Effect of urolithin A (UR) at different concentrations on glucose (Glu)-induced IL-1 $\beta$  levels in NIT-1 cells. Cells were incubated with Glu for 24 h and UR (0.01-10 $\mu$ M) was added followed by additional incubation for 72 h. IL-1 $\beta$  concentration was measured by ELISA. The values are expressed as percentage of untreated control. Results are presented as mean  $\pm$  S.D, (n=2). Letters with different superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05) among groups.



Figure 4.3.3. Effect of isorhamnetin (IS) at different concentrations on glucose (Glu)-induced IL-1 $\beta$  levels in NIT-1 cells. Cells were incubated with Glu for 24 h and IS (0.01-10 $\mu$ M) was added followed by additional incubation for 72 h. IL-1 $\beta$  concentration was measured by ELISA. The values are expressed as percentage of untreated control. Results are presented as mean ± S.D, (n=2). Letters with different superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05) among groups.



Figure 4.3.4. Effect of muscadine extract (MS) at different concentrations on glucose (Glu)induced IL-1 $\beta$  levels in NIT-1 cells. Cells were incubated with Glu for 24 h and MS (0.01-10 $\mu$ M) was added followed by additional incubation for 72 h. IL-1 $\beta$  concentration was measured by ELISA. The values are expressed as percentage of untreated control. Results are presented as mean  $\pm$  S.D, (n=2). Letters with different superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05) among groups.



Figure 4.3.5. Effect of amla extract (AM) at different concentrations on glucose (Glu)-induced IL-1 $\beta$  levels in NIT-1 cells. Cells were incubated with Glu for 24 h and AM (0.01-10 $\mu$ M) was added followed by additional incubation for 72 h. IL-1 $\beta$  concentration was measured by ELISA. The values are expressed as percentage of untreated control. Results are presented as mean  $\pm$  S.D, (n=2). Letters with different superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05) among groups.

### 4.4. Effect of EA, UR, IS, MS or AM on PA-induced IL-1β

To study the effect of EA, UR, IS, MS or AM on PA-induced IL-1 $\beta$ , ELISA was performed. The IL-1 $\beta$  levels in the supernatants were determined by ELISA. The results are presented in Fig. 4.4.1 to 4.4.5 and reported as IL-1 $\beta$  (% of control). PA treatment increased IL-1 $\beta$  secretion by 6.84 ± 0.88% compared to control. However, the increase was not significant. The PA-induced IL-1 $\beta$  level was less than that induced by Glu (38.29 ± 1.85 %). BSA treatment did not increase IL-1 $\beta$  level compared to control thereby confirming that the increased IL-1 $\beta$ levels were due to PA.

The response of pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells to saturated fatty acids is dependent on fatty acid chain length (*144*).  $\beta$ -cells have high tolerance for short chain fatty acids such as laurate or octanoate compared to long chain fatty acids such as palmitate. In vitro study for 24 h showed high

amounts of oxygen radicals and inflammatory cytokines expression upon exposure to 200-500  $\mu$ M of PA in skeletal muscle cells (5). Moreover, palmitate, oleate or stearate have been reported to constitute 80% of the circulating free fatty acids in humans and IL-1 $\beta$  expression was observed upon exposure to these free fatty acids (7, 145).

The results in Fig 4.4.1 show that EA dose-dependently inhibited IL-1 $\beta$  and the inhibitory effect was significant (P < 0.05) only at 1  $\mu$ M and 10  $\mu$ M. Although, EA at 0.01  $\mu$ M and 0.05  $\mu$ M suppressed IL-1 $\beta$ , the difference was not significant from control. EA at 10  $\mu$ M reduced the IL-1 $\beta$  level to 26.96 ± 4.95% of the control. It can be observed from Fig 4.4.2 and 4.4.3 that none of the concentrations of UR or IS tested could significantly inhibit IL-1 $\beta$  compared to control. The results were similar to the data obtained from UR or IS in Glu-treated cells (Fig 4.3.2 and 4.3.3).



Figure 4.4.1. Effect of ellagic acid (EA) at different concentrations on palmitic acid (PA)induced IL-1 $\beta$  levels in NIT-1 cells. Cells were incubated with PA for 24 h and EA (0.01-10 $\mu$ M) was added followed by additional incubation for 72 h. IL-1 $\beta$  concentration was measured by ELISA. The values are expressed as percentage of untreated control. Results are presented as mean  $\pm$  S.D, (n=2). Letters with different superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05) among groups.



Figure 4.4.2. Effect of urolithin A (UR) at different concentrations on palmitic acid (PA)-induced IL-1 $\beta$  levels in NIT-1 cells. Cells were incubated with PA for 24 h and UR (0.01-10 $\mu$ M) was added followed by additional incubation for 72 h. IL-1 $\beta$  concentration was measured by ELISA. The values are expressed as percentage of untreated control. Results are presented as mean  $\pm$  S.D, (n=2). Letters with different superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05) among groups.



Figure 4.4.3. Effect of isorhamnetin (IS) at different concentrations on palmitic acid (PA)induced IL-1 $\beta$  levels in NIT-1 cells. Cells were incubated with PA for 24 h and IS (0.01-10 $\mu$ M) was added followed by additional incubation for 72 h. IL-1 $\beta$  concentration was measured by ELISA. The values are expressed as percentage of untreated control. Results are presented as mean  $\pm$  S.D, (n=2). Letters with different superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05) among groups.

The results from Fig 4.4.4 and 4.4.5 show that all the concentrations of MS or AM dosedependently caused significant inhibition (P < 0.05) of IL-1 $\beta$ . MS or AM containing 10  $\mu$ M EA equivalent inhibited IL-1 $\beta$  by 95% and 99% of control, respectively. The higher inhibition of IL-1 $\beta$  by MS or AM containing EA equivalent compared to pure EA (Fig 4.1.1) may be due to synergistic effect of unidentified compounds along with EA in MS or AM. Free radicals produced by Glu or PA induce IL-1 $\beta$ . IL-1 $\beta$  inhibition by AM may be due to the removal of free radicals by anti-oxidants in AM (*120*).



Figure 4.4.4. Effect of muscadine extract (MS) at different concentrations on palmitic acid (PA)induced IL-1 $\beta$  levels in NIT-1 cells. Cells were incubated with PA for 24 h and MS (0.01-10 $\mu$ M) was added followed by additional incubation for 72 h. IL-1 $\beta$  concentration was measured by ELISA. The values are expressed as percentage of untreated control. Results are presented as mean  $\pm$  S.D, (n=2). Letters with different superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05) among groups.



Figure 4.4.5. Effect of amla extract (AM) at different concentrations on palmitic acid (PA)induced IL-1 $\beta$  levels in NIT-1 cells. Cells were incubated with PA for 24 h and AM (0.01-10 $\mu$ M) was added followed by additional incubation for 72 h. IL-1 $\beta$  concentration was measured by ELISA. The values are expressed as percentage of untreated control. Results are presented as mean  $\pm$  S.D, (n=2). Letters with different superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05) among groups.

#### 4.5. Effect of EA, UR, IS, MS or AM on Glu+PA-induced IL-1β

To observe the effect of EA, UR, IS, MS or AM on Glu+PA-induced IL-1 $\beta$ , supernatants from the treated NIT-1 cells were measured by ELISA. The results are presented in Fig. 4.5 and reported as IL-1 $\beta$  (% of control). Treatment with a combination of Glu and PA showed a significant increase (P < 0.05) of IL-1 $\beta$  levels by 19.91 ± 1.25% compared to control.

The results from Fig 4.5.1 showed that the effect of EA on IL-1 $\beta$  induced by Glu+PA was similar to the effect observed when treated with either Glu or PA (Fig 4.3.1 and 4.4.1). All the concentrations of EA tested showed a statistically significant inhibition of IL-1 $\beta$  except for 0.01  $\mu$ M EA. EA at 10  $\mu$ M inhibited IL-1 $\beta$  by 70.2 ± 5.3% of the control. As shown in Fig 4.5.2, UR treatment dose-dependently inhibited IL-1 $\beta$ , but the inhibition was not significantly different from the control. UR at 10  $\mu$ M showed maximum inhibition by reducing IL-1 $\beta$  to 80 ± 13.2 % of control.

The results from Fig 4.5.3. show that IS dose-dependently inhibited IL-1 $\beta$  in Glu+PAtreated NIT-1 cells. Interestingly, IS did not have any significant inhibitory effect on the IL-1 $\beta$ produced by either Glu or PA (Fig 4.3.3 and 4.4.3) compared to control. IS at 10  $\mu$ M inhibited IL-1 $\beta$  by 55.2 ± 4.7% of the control. IS inhibited LPS-induced IL-1 $\beta$  in murine macrophages (21).

The inhibitory effects of MS or AM on IL-1 $\beta$  induced by exposure to Glu+PA are presented in Fig 4.5.4 and 4.5.5. MS or AM showed significant dose-dependent inhibition of IL-1 $\beta$ . Maximum inhibition of 94% and 75% compared to the control was observed with MS or AM containing 10 $\mu$ M EA equivalent, respectively. Higher inhibition of IL-1 $\beta$  in cells treated with MS or AM compared to EA (Fig 4.1.1) may be associated to synergistic effect from other unidentified compounds in MS or AM along with EA.



Figure 4.5.1. Effect of ellagic acid (EA) at different concentrations on glucose + palmitic acid (Glu+PA)-induced IL-1 $\beta$  levels in NIT-1 cells. Cells were incubated with Glu+PA for 24 h and EA (0.01-10 $\mu$ M) was added followed by additional incubation for 72 h. IL-1 $\beta$  concentration was measured by ELISA. The values are expressed as percentage of untreated control. Results are presented as mean ± S.D, (n=2). Letters with different superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05) among groups.



Figure 4.5.2. Effect of urolithin A (UR) at different concentrations on glucose + palmitic acid (Glu+PA)-induced IL-1 $\beta$  levels in NIT-1 cells. Cells were incubated with Glu+PA for 24 h and UR (0.01-10 $\mu$ M) was added followed by additional incubation for 72 h. IL-1 $\beta$  concentration was measured by ELISA. The values are expressed as percentage of untreated control. Results are presented as mean ± S.D, (n=2). Letters with different superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05) among groups.



Figure 4.5.3. Effect of isorhamnetin (IS) at different concentrations on glucose + palmitic acid (Glu+PA)-induced IL-1 $\beta$  levels in NIT-1 cells. Cells were incubated with Glu+PA for 24 h and IS (0.01-10 $\mu$ M) was added followed by additional incubation for 72 h. IL-1 $\beta$  concentration was measured by ELISA. The values are expressed as percentage of untreated control. Results are presented as mean ± S.D, (n=2). Letters with different superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05) among groups.



Figure 4.5.4. Effect of muscadine extract (MS) at different concentrations on glucose + palmitic acid (Glu+PA)-induced IL-1 $\beta$  levels in NIT-1 cells. Cells were incubated with Glu+PA for 24 h and MS (0.01-10 $\mu$ M) was added followed by additional incubation for 72 h. IL-1 $\beta$  concentration was measured by ELISA. The values are expressed as percentage of untreated control. Results are presented as mean  $\pm$  S.D, (n=2). Letters with different superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05) among groups.



Figure 4.5.5. Effect of amla extract (AM) at different concentrations on glucose + palmitic acid (Glu+PA)-induced IL-1 $\beta$  levels in NIT-1 cells. Cells were incubated with Glu+PA for 24 h and AM (0.01-10 $\mu$ M) was added followed by additional incubation for 72 h. IL-1 $\beta$  concentration was measured by ELISA. The values are expressed as percentage of untreated control. Results are presented as mean ± S.D, (n=2). Letters with different superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05) among groups.

### 4.6. Effect of EA,UR, IS, MS or AM on insulin secretion in Glu-treated NIT-1 cells

To observe the effect EA, UR, IS, MS or AM on Glu-reduced insulin secretion, the supernatants from the treated NIT-1 cells were measured by ELISA. The results are presented in Fig. 4.6 and expressed as insulin (% of control). Glu treatment significantly decreased (P < 0.05) insulin secretion by 11.8  $\pm$  0.14 % of control. The decrease in insulin secretion was associated with the increase in IL-1 $\beta$  secretion by Glu treatment (Fig 4.3). Maedler et al. studied the effect of exposure of human islets to 33.3 mM Glu for 4 days and observed that exposure to Glu induced significant increase in IL-1 $\beta$  secretion (*11*). The study also reported nearly complete failure of insulin secretory process after 4 days despite the almost absence of apoptotic cells. However, in our study, we observed a significant increase in IL-1 $\beta$  upon exposure to 33.3 mM Glu, whereas insulin secretion was suppressed by only 11.8  $\pm$  0.14 % of control.

The results in Fig 4.6.1 show that EA at  $10\mu$ M significantly (P < 0.05) stimulated insulin compared to the control. The insulin concentration in cells treated with  $10\mu$ M EA is  $3.8 \pm 0.5$  % higher than that of control. EA at 0.01, 0.05 and  $1\mu$ M dose-dependently stimulated insulin, but

the difference was not significant compared to control. Treatment with UR or IS (Fig. 4.6.2) did not show any significant stimulation on insulin secretion. Although UR or IS dose-dependently increased insulin secretion, they are not statistically similar to that of control. UR or IS did not inhibit IL-1 $\beta$  (Fig 4.3.2 and 4.3.3). A potential explanation is the low stimulatory effect on insulin in UR-or IS-treated cells.

Fig 4.6.4 show that MS dose-dependently enhanced insulin secretion, but the increase was not significantly different from that in Glu-treated or control cells. Fig. 4.6.5. showed that AM dose-dependently increased the insulin secretion only at 1 and 10 $\mu$ M. In vivo studies in diabetic subjects showed that administration of AM juice, tablet or fruits decreased blood glucose levels (*35-37*) and it has been suggested that the reduced blood glucose levels may have been due to insulin stimulation by AM. Moreover, the inhibitory effect of AM on Glu-induced IL-1 $\beta$  (Fig 4.3.5) may be a contributing factor for insulin stimulation.



Figure 4.6.1. Effect of ellagic acid (EA) at different concentrations on glucose (Glu)-reduced insulin secretion in NIT-1 cells. Cells were incubated with Glu for 24 h and EA (0.01-10 $\mu$ M) was added followed by additional incubation for 72 h. Insulin concentration was measured by ELISA. The values are expressed as percentage of untreated control. Results are presented as mean  $\pm$  S.D, (n=2). Letters with different superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05) among groups.



Figure 4.6.2. Effect of urolithin A (UR) at different concentrations on glucose (Glu)-reduced insulin secretion in NIT-1 cells. Cells were incubated with Glu for 24 h and UR (0.01-10 $\mu$ M) was added followed by additional incubation for 72 h. Insulin concentration was measured by ELISA. The values are expressed as percentage of untreated control. Results are presented as mean  $\pm$  S.D, (n=2). Letters with different superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05) among groups.



Figure 4.6.3. Effect of isorhamnetin (IS) at different concentrations on glucose (Glu)-reduced insulin secretion in NIT-1 cells. Cells were incubated with Glu for 24 h and IS (0.01-10 $\mu$ M) was added followed by additional incubation for 72 h. Insulin concentration was measured by ELISA. The values are expressed as percentage of untreated control. Results are presented as mean  $\pm$  S.D, (n=2). Letters with different superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05) among groups.



Figure 4.6.4. Effect of muscadine extract (MS) at different concentrations on glucose (Glu)reduced insulin secretion in NIT-1 cells. Cells were incubated with Glu for 24 h and MS (0.01- $10\mu$ M) was added followed by additional incubation for 72 h. Insulin concentration was measured by ELISA. The values are expressed as percentage of untreated control. Results are presented as mean ± S.D, (n=2). Letters with different superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05) among groups.



Figure 4.6.5. Effect of amla extract (AM) at different concentrations on glucose (Glu)-reduced insulin secretion in NIT-1 cells. Cells were incubated with Glu for 24 h and AM (0.01-10 $\mu$ M) was added followed by additional incubation for 72 h. Insulin concentration was measured by ELISA. The values are expressed as percentage of untreated control. Results are presented as mean  $\pm$  S.D, (n=2). Letters with different superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05) among groups.

## 4.7. Effect of EA, UR, IS, MS or AM on insulin secretion in PA-treated NIT-1 cells

To study the effect of EA, UR, IS, MS or AM on PA-reduced insulin secretion, the supernatants from the NIT-1 cells were analyzed for insulin by ELISA. The results are presented in Fig. 4.7. and expressed as insulin (% of control). The results show that PA treatment decreased insulin secretion by  $4.8 \pm 0.3\%$  of control. Exposure of NIT-1 cells to Glu reduced insulin secretion to a much lower concentration (11.8 ± 0.14 %) than in the cells that were exposed to PA, compared to control. It may have been due to higher induction of IL-1 $\beta$  (38.29 ± 1.85 %, Fig. 4.3) by Glu than PA (6.84 ± 0.88\%, Fig. 4.4) compared to control.

Treatment with BSA alone did not have any effect on insulin compared to control suggesting that the decreased insulin secretion was due to PA alone. It has been shown that incubation of rat islets with PA for 48 h decreased insulin secretion by 30 - 50% and proinsulin biosynthesis by 30 - 40% (*66*). Rat pancreatic islets exposed to 250  $\mu$ M PA for 48 h showed inhibition of insulin synthesis as well as glucose stimulated insulin secretion. It was reported by Maedler et al. that incubation of human pancreatic islets with 500  $\mu$ M PA for 4 days decreased the insulin content as well as chronic insulin secretion (*65*).

The results in Fig 4.7.1 show that EA dose-dependently up-regulated the insulin secretion that was reduced by PA. Among the concentrations of EA (0.01-10  $\mu$ M) tested, EA at 10 $\mu$ M significantly increased insulin equivalent to control. Malini et al. reported that oral administration of EA at 50mg/kg and 100 mg/kg of body weight for 35 days dose-dependently reduced glucose and increased insulin secretion in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats (*19*).

Fig 4.7.2 show that treatment of NIT-1 cells with UR at different concentrations (0.01-10  $\mu$ M) did not have any influence on the stimulation of insulin secretion that was reduced by PA. It may be due to the inability of UR to inhibit IL-1 $\beta$  (Fig 4.4) and also the low antioxidant potential of UR compared to EA (*141*). Among the IS-treated cells (Fig 4.7.3), only IS at 10  $\mu$ M

significantly increased (P < 0.05) insulin secretion by 13.08  $\pm$  0.35 % compared to control. The results of this study show that IS can be effective in up-regulating insulin at concentrations higher than 10  $\mu$ M.

The results in Fig 4.7.4 and 4.7.5 show that MS or AM containing 0.01-10  $\mu$ M equivalent EA dose-dependently increased insulin secretion. In the cells treated with 1 $\mu$ M of MS or AM, the insulin concentration was significantly higher (P < 0.05) than PA and similar to the control. MS and AM at 10 $\mu$ M significantly stimulated insulin by 10.4 ± 0.32 and 10.6 ± 0.25%, respectively compared to control. MS or AM contained several bioactives which synergistically may have stimulated insulin secretion. Vattem et al. suggested that the synergistic effect of whole foods is due to the enhanced activity of one bio-active compound in presence of another compound resulting in greater functionality and reduced need of the concentration of each bio-active compound (68).



Figure 4.7.1. Effect of ellagic acid (EA) at different concentrations on palmitic acid (PA)reduced insulin secretion in NIT-1 cells. Cells were incubated with PA for 24 h and EA (0.01- $10\mu$ M) was added followed by additional incubation for 72 h. Insulin concentration was measured by ELISA. The values are expressed as percentage of untreated control. Results are presented as mean ± S.D, (n=2). Letters with different superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05) among groups.



Figure 4.7.2. Effect of urolithin A (UR) at different concentrations on palmitic acid (PA)-reduced insulin secretion in NIT-1 cells. Cells were incubated with PA for 24 h and UR (0.01-10 $\mu$ M) was added followed by additional incubation for 72 h. Insulin concentration was measured by ELISA. The values are expressed as percentage of untreated control. Results are presented as mean  $\pm$  S.D, (n=2). Letters with different superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05) among groups.



Figure 4.7.3. Effect of isorhamnetin (IS) at different concentrations on palmitic acid (PA)reduced insulin secretion in NIT-1 cells. Cells were incubated with PA for 24 h and IS (0.01- $10\mu$ M) was added followed by additional incubation for 72 h. Insulin concentration was measured by ELISA. The values are expressed as percentage of untreated control. Results are presented as mean ± S.D, (n=2). Letters with different superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05) among groups.



Figure 4.7.4. Effect of muscadine extract (MS) at different concentrations on palmitic acid (PA)reduced insulin secretion in NIT-1 cells. Cells were incubated with PA for 24 h and MS (0.01- $10\mu$ M) was added followed by additional incubation for 72 h. Insulin concentration was measured by ELISA. The values are expressed as percentage of untreated control. Results are presented as mean ± S.D, (n=2). Letters with different superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05) among groups.



Figure 4.7.5. Effect of amla extract (AM) at different concentrations on palmitic acid (PA)reduced insulin secretion in NIT-1 cells. Cells were incubated with PA for 24 h and AM (0.01- $10\mu$ M) was added followed by additional incubation for 72 h. Insulin concentration was measured by ELISA. The values are expressed as percentage of untreated control. Results are presented as mean ± S.D, (n=2). Letters with different superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05) among groups.

#### 4.8. Effect of EA, UR, IS, MS or AM on insulin secretion in Glu+PA-treated NIT-1 cells

To study the effect of EA, UR, IS or MS or AM on Glu+PA-reduced insulin secretion, the supernatants from NIT-1 cells were analyzed by ELISA. The results are presented in Fig 4.8 and reported as insulin (% of control). Exposure to Glu+PA inhibited insulin secretion by  $10.4 \pm 0.55\%$  compared to the control.

Glu+PA reduced insulin secretion more than PA (4.8  $\pm$  0.3%) and less than Glu (11.8  $\pm$  0.14 %) (Fig 4.8). It may have been due to higher induction of IL-1 $\beta$  by Glu+PA (Fig 4.5) than PA alone (Fig 4.4) and lower than that induced by Glu (Fig 4.3). Exposure to Glu and free fatty acids can induce oxidative stress that can increase IL-1 $\beta$  levels. The increased concentrations of IL-1 $\beta$  may interfere with the insulin signal transduction and lead to faulty insulin secretion process (*9*, *10*, *81*). In the present study, inhibitory effect of Glu+PA on insulin was observed in agreement with the previous studies.

Fig 4.8.1 shows the effect of different concentrations of EA on Glu+PA treated NIT-1 cells. The results show that EA dose-dependently increased the insulin secretion. Nevertheless, the increase was not significantly different from Glu+PA treated cells and lower than that of control. The results from UR treated cells are presented in Fig 4.8.2. Similar to the results with either Glu (Fig 4.6.2) or PA (Fig 4.7.2) treatment, UR did not show any significant influence on insulin secretion that were reduced by Glu+PA. The secretion of insulin were similar to that of Glu+PA and less than the control.

The results from Fig 4.8.3 show that treatment with IS significantly increased (P < 0.05) the insulin secretion compared to treatment with Glu+PA. The insulin secretion in NIT-1 cells treated with IS at 0.01-1µM was similar to that of control. Moreover, IS at 10µM increased insulin secretion by 13.06 ± 0.17 % of control. Yokozawa et al. reported that administration of IS

to diabetic rats decreased the blood glucose levels which may have been due to stimulation of insulin by IS (22).

Results in Fig 4.8.4 show that MS containing  $0.01-10\mu$ M EA equivalent dosedependently increased insulin secretion. However, the increase was not significantly different from the insulin secretion by the control NIT-1 cells. Supplementation of MS juice to diabetic subjects was associated with decrease in blood glucose (*26*). Results in Fig 4.8.5 show that AM dose-dependently increased insulin secretion that was reduced by Glu+PA. However, only AM at 10  $\mu$ M up-regulated insulin similar to that of control.



Figure 4.8.1. Effect of ellagic acid (EA) at different concentrations on glucose+palmitic acid (Glu+PA)-reduced insulin secretion in NIT-1 cells. Cells were incubated with Glu+PA for 24 h and EA (0.01-10 $\mu$ M) was added followed by additional incubation for 72 h. Insulin concentration was measured by ELISA. The values are expressed as percentage of untreated control. Results are presented as mean  $\pm$  S.D, (n=2). Letters with different superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05) among groups.



Figure 4.8.2. Effect of urolithin A (UR) at different concentrations on glucose+palmitic acid (Glu+PA)-reduced insulin secretion in NIT-1 cells. Cells were incubated with Glu+PA for 24 h and UR (0.01-10 $\mu$ M) was added followed by additional incubation for 72 h. Insulin concentration was measured by ELISA. The values are expressed as percentage of untreated control. Results are presented as mean ± S.D, (n=2). Letters with different superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05) among groups.



Figure 4.8.3. Effect of isorhamnetin (IS) at different concentrations on glucose+palmitic acid (Glu+PA)-reduced insulin secretion in NIT-1 cells. Cells were incubated with Glu+PA for 24 h and IS (0.01-10 $\mu$ M) was added followed by additional incubation for 72 h. Insulin concentration was measured by ELISA. The values are expressed as percentage of untreated control. Results are presented as mean ± S.D, (n=2). Letters with different superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05) among groups.



Figure 4.8.4. Effect of muscadine extract (MS) at different concentrations on glucose+palmitic acid (Glu+PA)-reduced insulin secretion in NIT-1 cells. Cells were incubated with Glu+PA for 24 h and MS (0.01-10 $\mu$ M) was added followed by additional incubation for 72 h. Insulin concentration was measured by ELISA. The values are expressed as percentage of untreated control. Results are presented as mean  $\pm$  S.D, (n=2). Letters with different superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05) among groups.



Figure 4.8.5. Effect of amla extract (AM) at different concentrations on glucose+palmitic acid (Glu+PA)-reduced insulin secretion in NIT-1 cells. Cells were incubated with Glu+PA for 24 h and AM (0.01-10 $\mu$ M) was added followed by additional incubation for 72 h. Insulin concentration was measured by ELISA. The values are expressed as percentage of untreated control. Results are presented as mean  $\pm$  S.D, (n=2). Letters with different superscripts are significantly different (P < 0.05) among groups.

## CHAPTER 5 CONCLUSIONS

Exposure of NIT-1 cells to 33.3mM glucose or 250  $\mu$ M palmitic acid for 96 h significantly increased IL-1 $\beta$  and reduced insulin secretion. Exposure of NIT-1 cells to glucose was associated with more IL-1 $\beta$  secretion and insulin secretion reduction than exposure to palmitic acid. Glucose or palmitic acid-induced IL-1 $\beta$  secretion was dose-dependently inhibited by ellagic acid, muscadine or amla extract standardized to its ellagic acid content, whereas ellagic acid metabolite urolithin A or isorhamnetin treatment did not inhibit the glucose or palmitic acid-induced IL-1 $\beta$  secretion. Glucose + palmitic acid-induced IL-1 $\beta$  secretion was dose-dependently down-regulated by ellagic acid, muscadine or amla extract, or isorhamnetin whereas urolithin A showed significant inhibition only at 1  $\mu$ M or 10  $\mu$ M.

Insulin secretion in glucose or palmitic acid treated NIT-1 cells was dose-dependently stimulated by ellagic acid, muscadine or amla extracts. Urolithin A or isorhamnetin did not stimulate insulin secretion in glucose-treated NIT-1 cells. However, palmitic acid-reduced insulin secretion was stimulated by isorhamnetin at 10  $\mu$ M only, whereas urolithin A did not stimulate insulin in palmitic acid treated cells. Glucose + palmitic acid-reduced insulin secretion was dose-dependently stimulated by muscadine or amla extract, or isorhamnetin. Ellagic acid or its metabolite urolithin did not stimulate insulin secretion in glucose + palmitic acid treated NIT-1 cells.

IL-1 $\beta$  inhibition and stimulation of insulin by ellagic acid, muscadine or amla extracts containing equivalent amount of ellagic acid suggests that ellagic acid or ellagic acid-rich foods can be effective modulators of inflammation in diabetes. The metabolite of ellagic acid, urolithin A did not inhibit IL-1 $\beta$  or stimulate insulin secretion. Isorhamnetin at concentration higher than 10  $\mu$ M may be an effective modulator of palmitic acid-induced inflammation in NIT-1 cells.

## REFERENCES

1. Schenk, S.; Saberi, M.; Olefsky, J. M., Insulin sensitivity: modulation by nutrients and inflammation. *The Journal of clinical investigation* **2008**, *118*, 2992.

2. Kintscher, U.; Hartge, M.; Hess, K.; Foryst-Ludwig, A.; Clemenz, M.; Wabitsch, M.; Fischer-Posovszky, P.; Barth, T. F.; Dragun, D.; Skurk, T., T-lymphocyte Infiltration in Visceral Adipose Tissue A Primary Event in Adipose Tissue Inflammation and the Development of Obesity-Mediated Insulin Resistance. *Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology* **2008**, *28*, 1304-1310.

3. Palmer, J. P.; Helqvist, S.; Spinas, G. A.; Mølvig, J.; Mandrup-Poulsen, T.; Andersen, H. U.; Nerup, J., Interaction of  $\beta$ -cell activity and IL-1 concentration and exposure time in isolated rat islets of Langerhans. *Diabetes* **1989**, *38*, 1211-1216.

4. Parke, A.; Parke, D., The pathogenesis of inflammatory disease: surgical shock and multiple system organ failure. *Inflammopharmacology* **1995**, *3*, 149-168.

5. Lambertucci, R. H.; Hirabara, S. M.; Silveira, L. d. R.; Levada-Pires, A. C.; Curi, R.; Pithon-Curi, T. C., Palmitate increases superoxide production through mitochondrial electron transport chain and NADPH oxidase activity in skeletal muscle cells. *Journal of cellular physiology* **2008**, *216*, 796-804.

6. Shoelson, S. E.; Goldfine, A. B., Getting away from glucose: fanning the flames of obesity-induced inflammation. *Nature medicine* **2009**, *15*, 373-374.

7. Senn, J. J., Toll-like receptor-2 is essential for the development of palmitate-induced insulin resistance in myotubes. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **2006**, *281*, 26865-26875.

8. Donath, M. Y.; Böni-Schnetzler, M.; Ellingsgaard, H.; Ehses, J. A., Islet inflammation impairs the pancreatic  $\beta$ -cell in type 2 diabetes. *Physiology* **2009**, *24*, 325-331.

9. Böni-Schnetzler, M.; Thorne, J.; Parnaud, G.; Marselli, L.; Ehses, J. A.; Kerr-Conte, J.; Pattou, F.; Halban, P. A.; Weir, G. C.; Donath, M. Y., Increased interleukin (IL)-1 $\beta$  messenger ribonucleic acid expression in  $\beta$ -cells of individuals with type 2 diabetes and regulation of IL-1 $\beta$  in human islets by glucose and autostimulation. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* **2008**, *93*, 4065-4074.

10. Dandona, P.; Aljada, A.; Bandyopadhyay, A., Inflammation: the link between insulin resistance, obesity and diabetes. *Trends in immunology* **2004**, *25*, 4-7.

11. Maedler, K.; Sergeev, P.; Ris, F.; Oberholzer, J.; Joller-Jemelka, H. I.; Spinas, G. A.; Kaiser, N.; Halban, P. A.; Donath, M. Y., Glucose-induced  $\beta$  cell production of IL-1 $\beta$  contributes to glucotoxicity in human pancreatic islets. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* **2002**, *110*, 851.

12. Brower, V., A nutraceutical a day may keep the doctor away. *EMBO reports* 2005, 6, 708-711.

13. Pandey, K. B.; Rizvi, S. I., Plant polyphenols as dietary antioxidants in human health and disease. *Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity* **2009**, *2*, 270-278.

14. Han, X.; Shen, T.; Lou, H., Dietary polyphenols and their biological significance. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* **2007**, *8*, 950-988.

15. Hanhineva, K.; Törrönen, R.; Bondia-Pons, I.; Pekkinen, J.; Kolehmainen, M.; Mykkänen, H.; Poutanen, K., Impact of dietary polyphenols on carbohydrate metabolism. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* **2010**, *11*, 1365-1402.

16. Tomás-Barberán, F. A.; García-Conesa, M. T.; Larrosa, M.; Cerdá, B.; González-Barrio, R.; Bermúdez-Soto, M. J.; González-Sarrías, A.; Espín, J. C., Bioavailability, Metabolism, and Bioactivity of Food Ellagic Acid and Related Polyphenols. In *Recent Advances in Polyphenol Research*, Wiley-Blackwell: 2009; pp 263-277.

17. Larrosa, M.; González-Sarrías, A.; García-Conesa, M. T.; Tomás-Barberán, F. A.; Espín, J. C., Urolithins, ellagic acid-derived metabolites produced by human colonic microflora, exhibit estrogenic and antiestrogenic activities. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* **2006**, *54*, 1611-1620.

18. Cerda, B.; Periago, P.; Espin, J. C.; Tomas-Barberan, F. A., Identification of Urolithin A as a Metabolite Produced by Human Colon Microflora from Ellagic Acid and Related Compounds. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* **2005**, *53*, 5571-5576.

19. Malini, P.; Kanchana, G.; Rajadurai, M., Antibiabetic efficacy of ellagic acid in streptozotocin-induced diabetes mellitus in albino wistar rats. *Asian Journal of Pharmaceutical and Clinical Research* **2011**, *4*, 124-128.

20. Jadhav, R.; Puchchakayala, G., Hypoglycemic and antidiabetic activity of flavonoids: boswellic acid, ellagic acid, quercetin, rutin on streptozotocin-nicotinamide induced type 2 diabetic rats. *International Journal of Pharmacy & Pharmaceutical Sciences* **2012**, *4*, 251-256.

21. Boesch-Saadatmandi, C.; Loboda, A.; Wagner, A. E.; Stachurska, A.; Jozkowicz, A.; Dulak, J.; Döring, F.; Wolffram, S.; Rimbach, G., Effect of quercetin and its metabolites isorhamnetin and quercetin-3-glucuronide on inflammatory gene expression: role of miR-155. *The Journal of nutritional biodchemistry* **2011**, *22*, 293-299.

22. Yokozawa, T.; Kim, H. Y.; Cho, E. J.; Choi, J. S.; Chung, H. Y., Antioxidant effects of isorhamnetin 3, 7-di-O- $\beta$ -D-glucopyranoside isolated from mustard leaf (Brassica juncea) in rats with streptozotocin-induced diabetes. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry* **2002**, *50*, 5490-5495.

23. Talcott, S. T.; Lee, J.-H., Ellagic acid and flavonoid antioxidant content of muscadine wine and juice. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry* **2002**, *50*, 3186-3192.

24. Yi, W.; Fischer, J.; Akoh, C. C., Study of anticancer activities of muscadine grape phenolics in vitro. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* **2005**, *53*, 8804-8812.

25. Törrönen, R., Sources and health effects of dietary ellagitannins. In World Scientific: 2009; pp 298-315.

26. Banini, A. E.; Boyd, L. C.; Allen, J. C.; Allen, H. G.; Sauls, D. L., Muscadine grape products intake, diet and blood constituents of non-diabetic and type 2 diabetic subjects. *Nutrition* **2006**, *22*, 1137-1145.

27. Wang, W.; Yagiz, Y.; Buran, T. J.; Nunes, C. d. N.; Gu, L., Phytochemicals from berries and grapes inhibited the formation of advanced glycation end-products by scavenging reactive carbonyls. *Food research international* **2011**, *44*, 2666-2673.

28. Farrar, J. L. Natural products as possible treatments for Type II Diabetes Mellitus and its complications. University of Georgia, 2006.

29. You, Q.; Chen, F.; Wang, X.; Jiang, Y.; Lin, S., Anti-diabetic activities of phenolic compounds in muscadine against alpha-glucosidase and pancreatic lipase. *LWT-Food Science and Technology* **2012**, *46*, 164-168.

30. Nampoothiri, S. V.; Prathapan, A.; Cherian, O. L.; Raghu, K.; Venugopalan, V.; Sundaresan, A., In vitro antioxidant and inhibitory potential of Terminalia bellericaand Emblica officinalis fruits against LDL oxidation and key enzymes linked to type 2 diabetes. *Food and Chemical Toxicology* **2011**, *49*, 125-131.

31. Reddy, V. D.; Padmavathi, P.; Kavitha, G.; Gopi, S.; Varadacharyulu, N., Emblica officinalis ameliorates alcohol-induced brain mitochondrial dysfunction in rats. *Journal of Medicinal Food* **2011**, *14*, 62-68.

32. Pozharitskaya, O. N.; Ivanova, S. A.; Shikov, A. N.; Makarov, V. G., Separation and evaluation of free radical-scavenging activity of phenol components of Emblica officinalis extract by using an HPTLC–DPPH• method. *Journal of separation science* **2007**, *30*, 1250-1254.

33. Mirunalini, S.; Krishnaveni, M., Therapeutic potential of Phyllanthus emblica (amla): the ayurvedic wonder. *Journal of basic and clinical physiology and pharmacology* **2010**, *21*, 93-105.

34. Patel, S. S.; Goyal, R. K., Prevention of diabetes-induced myocardial dysfunction in rats using the juice of the Emblica officinalis fruit. *Experimental & Clinical Cardiology* **2011**, *16*, 87.

35. Mitra, A., Effects of a Composite of Tulsi Leaves, Amla, Bitter Gourd, Gurmur Leaves, Jamun Fruit and Seed in Type 2 Diabetic Patients. *J Clin Diagn Res* **2007**, *6*, 511-20.

36. Faizal P., A study on the hypoglycemic and hypolipidemic effects of an ayurvedic drug Rajanyamalakadi in diabetic patients. *Indian journal of clinical biochemistry : IJCB* **2009**, *24*, 82-7.

37. Iyer, U.; Joshi, A.; Dhruv, S., Impact of Amla (Embilica Officinalis) supplementation on the glycemic and lipidemic status of type 2 diabetic subjects. *J Herbal Med Toxicol* **2009**, *3*, 15-21.

38. Akhtar, M. S.; Ramzan, A.; Ali, A.; Ahmad, M., Effect of Amla fruit (Emblica officinalis Gaertn.) on blood glucose and lipid profile of normal subjects and type 2 diabetic patients. *International journal of food sciences and nutrition* **2011**, *62*, 609-616.

## 39. <u>http://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/pubs/pdf/ndfs\_2011.pdf</u>

# 40. <u>http://www.idf.org/sites/default/files/5E\_IDFAtlasPoster\_2012\_EN.pdf</u>

41. Association, A. D., Economic Costs of Diabetes in the US in 2012. *Diabetes Care* **2013**, *36*, 1033-1046.

42. Atkinson, M. A.; Eisenbarth, G. S., Type 1 diabetes: new perspectives on disease pathogenesis and treatment. *The Lancet* **2001**, *358*, 221-229.

43. Thakur, G.; Pal, K.; Mitra, A.; Mukherjee, S.; Basak, A.; Rousseau, D., Some common antidiabetic plants of the Indian subcontinent. *Food Reviews International* **2010**, *26*, 364-385.

44. Kempf, K.; Rose, B.; Herder, C.; Kleophas, U.; Martin, S.; Kolb, H., Inflammation in Metabolic Syndrome and Type 2 Diabetes. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* **2006**, *1084*, 30-48.

45. Cerf, M. E., Beta cell dynamics: beta cell replenishment, beta cell compensation and diabetes. *Endocrine* **2013**, 1-9.

46. Ashcroft, F. M.; Rorsman, P., Diabetes mellitus and the  $\beta$  cell: the last ten years. *Cell* **2012**, *148*, 1160-1171.

47. Prentki, M.; Nolan, C. J., Islet  $\beta$  cell failure in type 2 diabetes. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* **2006**, *116*, 1802-1812.

48. Zhang, Y.; Xiao, M.; Niu, G.; Tan, H., Mechanisms of oleic acid deterioration in insulin secretion: role in the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes. *Life sciences* **2005**, *77*, 2071-2081.

49. Saito, K.; Takahashi, T.; Yaginuma, N.; Iwama, N., Islet morphometry in the diabetic pancreas of man. *The Tohoku journal of experimental medicine* **1978**, *125*, 185.

50. Rahier, J.; Guiot, Y.; Goebbels, R. M.; Sempoux, C.; Henquin, J. C., Pancreatic  $\beta$ -cell mass in European subjects with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism* **2008**, *10*, 32-42.

51. Butler, A. E.; Janson, J.; Bonner-Weir, S.; Ritzel, R.; Rizza, R. A.; Butler, P. C.,  $\beta$ -Cell deficit and increased  $\beta$ -cell apoptosis in humans with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* **2003**, *52*, 102-110.

52. Clark, A.; Wells, C.; Buley, I.; Cruickshank, J.; Vanhegan, R.; Matthews, D.; Cooper, G.; Holman, R.; Turner, R., Islet amyloid, increased A-cells, reduced B-cells and exocrine fibrosis: quantitative changes in the pancreas in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes research (Edinburgh, Scotland)* **1988**, *9*, 151-159.

53. Anello, M.; Lupi, R.; Spampinato, D.; Piro, S.; Masini, M.; Boggi, U.; Del Prato, S.; Rabuazzo, A.; Purrello, F.; Marchetti, P., Functional and morphological alterations of mitochondria in pancreatic beta cells from type 2 diabetic patients. *Diabetologia* **2005**, *48*, 282-289.

54. Barroso, I.; Luan, J. a.; Middelberg, R. P.; Harding, A.-H.; Franks, P. W.; Jakes, R. W.; Clayton, D.; Schafer, A. J.; O'Rahilly, S.; Wareham, N. J., Candidate gene association study in type 2 diabetes indicates a role for genes involved in  $\beta$ -cell function as well as insulin action. *PLoS Biology* **2003**, *1*, e20.

55. Tasali, E.; Leproult, R.; Spiegel, K., Reduced sleep duration or quality: relationships with insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes. *Progress in cardiovascular diseases* **2009**, *51*, 381-391.

56. Piro, S.; Anello, M.; Di Pietro, C.; Lizzio, M. N.; Rabuazzo, A. M.; Vigneri, R.; Purrello, M.; Purrello, F., Chronic exposure to free fatty acids or high glucose induces apoptosis in rat pancreatic islets: possible role of oxidative stress. *Metabolism* **2002**, *51*, 1340-1347.

57. Butler, A. E.; Janson, J.; Soeller, W. C.; Butler, P. C., Increased  $\beta$ -cell apoptosis prevents adaptive increase in  $\beta$ -cell mass in mouse model of type 2 diabetes evidence for role of islet amyloid formation rather than direct action of amyloid. *Diabetes* **2003**, *52*, 2304-2314.

58. Scaglia, L.; Cahill, C.; Finegood, D.; Bonner-Weir, S., Apoptosis participates in the remodeling of the endocrine pancreas in the neonatal rat. *Endocrinology* **1997**, *138*, 1736-1741.

59. Bell, G. I.; Polonsky, K. S., Diabetes mellitus and genetically programmed defects in  $\beta$ -cell function. *Nature* **2001**, *414*, 788-791.

60. Karpe, F.; Dickmann, J. R.; Frayn, K. N., Fatty acids, obesity, and insulin resistance: time for a reevaluation. *Diabetes* **2011**, *60*, 2441-2449.

61. SAKO, Y.; GRILL, V. E., A 48-hour lipid infusion in the rat time-dependently inhibits glucose-induced insulin secretion and B cell oxidation through a process likely coupled to fatty acid oxidation. *Endocrinology* **1990**, *127*, 1580-1589.

62. Carpentier, A.; Mittelman, S. D.; Lamarche, B.; Bergman, R. N.; Giacca, A.; Lewis, G. F., Acute enhancement of insulin secretion by FFA in humans is lost with prolonged FFA elevation. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology And Metabolism* **1999**, 276, E1055-E1066.

63. Kahn, S. E.; Hull, R. L.; Utzschneider, K. M., Mechanisms linking obesity to insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes. *Nature* **2006**, *444*, 840-846.

64. Kolb, H.; Mandrup-Poulsen, T., The global diabetes epidemic as a consequence of lifestyle-induced low-grade inflammation. *Diabetologia* **2010**, *53*, 10-20.

65. Maedler, K.; Spinas, G.; Dyntar, D.; Moritz, W.; Kaiser, N.; Donath, M. Y., Distinct effects of saturated and monounsaturated fatty acids on  $\beta$ -cell turnover and function. *Diabetes* **2001**, *50*, 69-76.

66. Zhou, Y.-P.; Grill, V. E., Long-term exposure of rat pancreatic islets to fatty acids inhibits glucose-induced insulin secretion and biosynthesis through a glucose fatty acid cycle. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* **1994**, *93*, 870.

67. Rhee, S. G.; Yang, K.-S.; Kang, S. W.; Woo, H. A.; Chang, T.-S., Controlled elimination of intracellular H2O2: regulation of peroxiredoxin, catalase, and glutathione peroxidase via post-translational modification. *Antioxidants & redox signaling* **2005**, *7*, 619-626.

68. Vattem, D.; Shetty, K., Biological functionality of ellagic acid: a review. *Journal of Food Biochemistry* **2005**, *29*, 234-266.

69. Wang, X.; Tong, H.; Chen, F.; Gangemi, J. D., Chemical characterization and antioxidant evaluation of muscadine grape pomace extract. *Food Chemistry* **2010**, *123*, 1156-1162.

70. Lenzen, S., Oxidative stress: the vulnerable beta-cell. *Biochemical Society Transactions* **2008**, *36*, 343-347.

71. Maechler, P., Mitochondria as the conductor of metabolic signals for insulin exocytosis in pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences CMLS* **2002**, *59*, 1803-1818.

72. El-Osta, A.; Brasacchio, D.; Yao, D.; Pocai, A.; Jones, P. L.; Roeder, R. G.; Cooper, M. E.; Brownlee, M., Transient high glucose causes persistent epigenetic changes and altered gene expression during subsequent normoglycemia. *The Journal of experimental medicine* **2008**, *205*, 2409-2417.

73. Raha, S.; Robinson, B. H., Mitochondria, oxygen free radicals, disease and ageing. *Trends in biochemical sciences* **2000**, *25*, 502-508.

74. Maechler, P.; Jornot, L.; Wollheim, C. B., Hydrogen peroxide alters mitochondrial activation and insulin secretion in pancreatic beta cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **1999**, 274, 27905-27913.

75. Tiedge, M.; Lortz, S.; Drinkgern, J.; Lenzen, S., Relation between antioxidant enzyme gene expression and antioxidative defense status of insulin-producing cells. *Diabetes* **1997**, *46*, 1733-1742.

76. Melloul, D., Role of NF-kappaB in beta-cell death. *Biochem Soc Trans* **2008**, *36*, 334-9.

77. Donath, M. Y.; Schumann, D. M.; Faulenbach, M.; Ellingsgaard, H.; Perren, A.; Ehses, J. A., Islet Inflammation in Type 2 Diabetes From metabolic stress to therapy. *Diabetes care* **2008**, *31*, S161-S164.

78. Cnop, M.; Welsh, N.; Jonas, J.-C.; Jörns, A.; Lenzen, S.; Eizirik, D. L., Mechanisms of pancreatic  $\beta$ -cell death in Type 1 and Type 2 diabetes many differences, few similarities. *Diabetes* **2005**, *54*, S97-S107.

79. Coppack, S. W. In *Pro-inflammatory cytokines and adipose tissue*, PROCEEDINGS-NUTRITION SOCIETY OF LONDON, 2001; Cambridge Univ Press: 2001; pp 349-356.

80. Aldhahi, W.; Hamdy, O., Adipokines, inflammation, and the endothelium in diabetes. *Current diabetes reports* **2003**, *3*, 293-298.

81. Ehses, J. A.; Boni-Schnetzler, M.; Faulenbach, M.; Donath, M. Y., Macrophages, cytokines and beta-cell death in Type 2 diabetes. *Biochemical Society Transactions* **2008**, *36*, 340.

82. Donath, M. Y.; Størling, J.; Maedler, K.; Mandrup-Poulsen, T., Inflammatory mediators and islet  $\beta$ -cell failure: a link between type 1 and type 2 diabetes. *Journal of molecular medicine* **2003**, *81*, 455-470.

83. Ellingsgaard, H.; Ehses, J. A.; Hammar, E. B.; Van Lommel, L.; Quintens, R.; Martens, G.; Kerr-Conte, J.; Pattou, F.; Berney, T.; Pipeleers, D., Interleukin-6 regulates pancreatic α-cell mass expansion. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **2008**, *105*, 13163-13168.

84. Jörns, A.; Günther, A.; Hedrich, H.-J.; Wedekind, D.; Tiedge, M.; Lenzen, S., Immune cell infiltration, cytokine expression, and  $\beta$ -cell apoptosis during the development of type 1 diabetes in the spontaneously diabetic LEW. 1AR1/Ztm-iddm rat. *Diabetes* **2005**, *54*, 2041-2052.

85. Eizirik, D. L.; Mandrup-Poulsen, T., A choice of death-the signal-transduction of immune-mediated beta-cell apoptosis. *Diabetologia* **2001**, *44*, 2115-2133.

86. Uysal, K. T.; Wiesbrock, S. M.; Marino, M. W.; Hotamisligil, G. S., Protection from obesity-induced insulin resistance in mice lacking TNF- $\alpha$  function. *Nature* **1997**, *389*, 610-614.

87. Gokulakrishnan, K.; Mohanavalli, K. T.; Monickaraj, F.; Mohan, V.; Balasubramanyam, M., Subclinical inflammation/oxidation as revealed by altered gene expression profiles in subjects with impaired glucose tolerance and type 2 diabetes patients. *Molecular and cellular biochemistry* **2009**, *324*, 173-181.

88. Barker, B. R.; Taxman, D. J.; Ting, J. P. Y., Cross-regulation between the IL-1 $\beta$ /IL-18 processing inflammasome and other inflammatory cytokines. *Current Opinion in Immunology* **2011**, *23*, 591-597.

89. Zhou, R.; Tardivel, A.; Thorens, B.; Choi, I.; Tschopp, J., Thioredoxin-interacting protein links oxidative stress to inflammasome activation. *Nature immunology* **2009**, *11*, 136-140.

90. Chen, J.; Saxena, G.; Mungrue, I. N.; Lusis, A. J.; Shalev, A., Thioredoxin-interacting protein a critical link between glucose toxicity and  $\beta$ -cell apoptosis. *Diabetes* **2008**, *57*, 938-944.

91. Perregaux, D.; Gabel, C. A., Interleukin-1 beta maturation and release in response to ATP and nigericin. Evidence that potassium depletion mediated by these agents is a necessary and common feature of their activity. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **1994**, *269*, 15195-15203.

92. Masters SI, D. A. S. S. L. H. R. L. T. G. M. S. F. A. B. C. F. L. Y. E. C. Z. M., Activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome by islet amyloid polypeptide provides a mechanism for enhanced IL-1b in type 2 diabetes. *Nature immunology* **2010**, *11*, 897-904.

93. Tschopp, J.; Schroder, K., NLRP3 inflammasome activation: The convergence of multiple signalling pathways on ROS production? *Nature Reviews Immunology* **2010**, *10*, 210-215.

94. Wen, H.; Gris, D.; Lei, Y.; Jha, S.; Zhang, L.; Huang, M. T.-H.; Brickey, W. J.; Ting, J. P., Fatty acid-induced NLRP3-ASC inflammasome activation interferes with insulin signaling. *Nature immunology* **2011**, *12*, 408-415.

95. Maedler, K.; Sergeev, P.; Ehses, J. A.; Mathe, Z.; Bosco, D.; Berney, T.; Dayer, J.-M.; Reinecke, M.; Halban, P. A.; Donath, M. Y., Leptin modulates  $\beta$  cell expression of IL-1 receptor antagonist and release of IL-1 $\beta$  in human islets. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **2004**, *101*, 8138-8143.

96. Darville, M.; Eizirik, D. L., Regulation by cytokines of the inducible nitric oxide synthase promoter in insulin-producing cells. *Diabetologia* **1998**, *41*, 1101-1108.

97. Maedler, K.; Carr, R. D.; Bosco, D.; Zuellig, R. A.; Berney, T.; Donath, M. Y., Sulfonylurea induced  $\beta$ -cell apoptosis in cultured human islets. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* **2005**, *90*, 501-506.

98. Efanova, I. B.; Zaitsev, S. V.; Zhivotovsky, B.; Köhler, M.; Efendić, S.; Orrenius, S.; Berggren, P.-O., Glucose and Tolbutamide Induce Apoptosis in Pancreatic β-Cells A PROCESS DEPENDENT ON INTRACELLULAR Ca2+ CONCENTRATION. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **1998**, *273*, 33501-33507.

99. Wajchenberg, B. L., Clinical approaches to preserve  $\beta$ -Cell function in diabetes. In *The Islets of Langerhans*, Springer: 2010; pp 515-535.

100. Levetan, C., Oral antidiabetic agents in type 2 diabetes. *Current Medical Research and Opinion*® **2007**, *23*, 945-952.

101. Plutzky, J., Macrovascular effects and safety issues of therapies for type 2 diabetes. *The American journal of cardiology* **2011**, *108*, 25B-32B.

102. Hollander, P.; Raslova, K.; Skjøth, T.; Råstam, J.; Liutkus, J., Efficacy and safety of insulin detemir once daily in combination with sitagliptin and metformin: the TRANSITION randomized controlled trial. *Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism* **2011**, *13*, 268-275.

103. Starner, C. I.; Schafer, J. A.; Heaton, A. H.; Gleason, P. P., Rosiglitazone and pioglitazone utilization from January 2007 through May 2008 associated with five risk-warning events. *Journal of managed care pharmacy: JMCP* **2008**, *14*, 523.

104. Bethesda, M. Stem Cells and Diabetes . In Stem Cell Information. http://stemcells.nih.gov/info/scireport/pages/chapter7.aspx

105. Swanston-Flatt, S. K.; Flatt, P. R.; Day, C.; Bailey, C. J., Traditional dietary adjuncts for the treatment of diabetes mellitus. *Proc Nutr Soc* **1991**, *50*, 641-51.

106. Block, G.; Patterson, B.; Subar, A., Fruit, vegetables, and cancer prevention: a review of the epidemiological evidence. *Nutrition and cancer* **1992**, *18*, 1-29.

107. Duthie, G. G.; Gardner, P. T.; Kyle, J. A., Plant polyphenols: are they the new magic bullet? *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society* **2003**, *62*, 599-604.

108. Serdula, M. K.; Byers, T.; Mokdad, A. H.; Simoes, E.; Mendlein, J. M.; Coates, R. J., The association between fruit and vegetable intake and chronic disease risk factors. *Epidemiology* **1996**, *7*, 161-165.

109. Arts, I. C.; Hollman, P. C., Polyphenols and disease risk in epidemiologic studies. *The American journal of clinical nutrition* **2005**, *81*, 317S-325S.

110. Greenspan, P.; Bauer, J. D.; Pollock, S. H.; Gangemi, J. D.; Mayer, E. P.; Ghaffar, A.; Hargrove, J. L.; Hartle, D. K., Antiinflammatory properties of the muscadine grape (Vitis rotundifolia). *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry* **2005**, *53*, 8481-8484.

111. Pastrana-Bonilla, E.; Akoh, C. C.; Sellappan, S.; Krewer, G., Phenolic content and antioxidant capacity of muscadine grapes. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* **2003**, *51*, 5497-5503.

112. Lee, J.-H.; Talcott, S. T., Ellagic acid and ellagitannins affect on sedimentation in muscadine juice and wine. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry* **2002**, *50*, 3971-3976.

113. Sandhu, A. K.; Gu, L., Antioxidant capacity, phenolic content, and profiling of phenolic compounds in the seeds, skin, and pulp of Vitis rotundifolia (muscadine grapes) as determined by HPLC-DAD-ESI-MS n. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry* **2010**, *58*, 4681-4692.

114. Vashisth, T.; Singh, R. K.; Pegg, R. B., Effects of drying on the phenolics content and antioxidant activity of muscadine pomace. *LWT-Food Science and Technology* **2011**, *44*, 1649-1657.

115. Ahmed, N., Advanced glycation endproducts—role in pathology of diabetic complications. *Diabetes research and clinical practice* **2005**, *67*, 3-21.

116. Nagaraj, R. H.; Sarkar, P.; Mally, A.; Biemel, K. M.; Lederer, M. O.; Padayatti, P. S., Effect of pyridoxamine on chemical modification of proteins by carbonyls in diabetic rats: characterization of a major product from the reaction of pyridoxamine and methylglyoxal. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics* **2002**, *402*, 110-119.

117. Perry, L. M.; Metzger, J., *Medicinal plants of east and southeast Asia: attributed properties and uses.* MIT press: **1980**.

118. Satyavati, G.; Raina, M.; Sharma, M., *Medicinal plants of India*. Indian council of medical research New Delhi: **1976**, *1*.

119. EL-MEKKAWY, S.; MESELHU, M.; Kusumoto, I.; Kadota, S.; Hattori, M.; Namba, T., Inhibitory effect of Egyptian folk medicines on human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) reverse transcriptase. *Chemical and pharmaceutical bulletin* **1995**, *43*, 641-648.

120. Rao, T.; Sakaguchi, N.; Juneja, L.; Wada, E.; Yokozawa, T., Amla (Emblica officinalis Gaertn.) extracts reduce oxidative stress in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. *Journal of medicinal food* **2005**, *8*, 362-368.

121. Cerda, B.; Tomas-Barberan, F. A.; Espin, J. C., Metabolism of Antioxidant and Chemopreventive Ellagitannins from Strawberries, Raspberries, Walnuts, and Oak-Aged Wine in Humans: Identification of Biomarkers and Individual Variability. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* **2004**, *53*, 227-235.

122. Seeram, N. P.; Lee, R.; Heber, D., Bioavailability of ellagic acid in human plasma after consumption of ellagitannins from pomegranate (Punica granatum L.) juice. *Clinica Chimica Acta* **2004**, *348*, 63-68.

123. Lei, F.; Xing, D.-M.; Xiang, L.; Zhao, Y.-N.; Wang, W.; Zhang, L.-J.; Du, L.-J., Pharmacokinetic study of ellagic acid in rat after oral administration of pomegranate leaf extract. *Journal of Chromatography B* **2003**, *796*, 189-194.

124. Whitley, A. C.; Stoner, G. D.; Darby, M. V.; Walle, T., Intestinal epithelial cell accumulation of the cancer preventive polyphenol ellagic acid—extensive binding to protein and DNA. *Biochemical pharmacology* **2003**, *66*, 907-915.

125. Hamad, A.-W. R.; Momani, W.; Janakat, S.; Oran, S. A., Bioavailability of ellagic acid after single dose administration using HPLC. *Pak J Nutrition* **2009**, *8*, 1661-1664.

126. Cerdá, B.; Espin, J.; Parra, S.; Martínez, P.; Tomás-Barberán, F. A., The potent in vitro antioxidant ellagitannins from pomegranate juice are metabolised into bioavailable but poor antioxidant hydroxy–6H–dibenzopyran–6–one derivatives by the colonic microflora of healthy humans. *European journal of nutrition* **2004**, *43*, 205-220.
127. JADHAV, R.; PUCHCHAKAYALA, G., Hypoglycemic and antidiabetic activity of flavonoids: boswellic acid, ellagic acid, quercetin, rutin on Streptozotocin-nicotinamide induced type 2 diabetic rats. *Group* **2012**, *1*, 100g.

128. Manach, C.; Williamson, G.; Morand, C.; Scalbert, A.; Rémésy, C., Bioavailability and bioefficacy of polyphenols in humans. I. Review of 97 bioavailability studies. *The American journal of clinical nutrition* **2005**, *81*, 230S-242S.

129. Cho, J. M.; Chang, S.-Y.; Kim, D.-B.; Needs, P. W.; Jo, Y.-H.; Kim, M.-J., Effects of physiological quercetin metabolites on interleukin-1 $\beta$ -induced inducible NOS expression. *The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry* **2012**, *23*, 1394-1402.

130. Mullen, W.; Edwards, C. A.; Crozier, A., Absorption, excretion and metabolite profiling of methyl-, glucosyl-and sulpho-conjugates of quercetin in human plasma and urine after ingestion of onions. *British journal of nutrition* **2006**, *96*, 107-116.

131. Goldberg, D. M.; Yan, J.; Soleas, G. J., Absorption of three wine-related polyphenols in three different matrices by healthy subjects. *Clinical biochemistry* **2003**, *36*, 79-87.

132. Hamaguchi, K.; Gaskins, H. R.; Leiter, E. H., NIT-1, a pancreatic  $\beta$ -cell line established from a transgenic NOD/Lt mouse. *Diabetes* **1991**, *40*, 842-849.

133. Van Greevenbroek, M.; Voorhout, W. F.; Erkelens, D. W.; Van Meer, G.; De Bruin, T., Palmitic acid and linoleic acid metabolism in Caco-2 cells: different triglyceride synthesis and lipoprotein secretion. *Journal of lipid research* **1995**, *36*, 13-24.

134. McIntosh, M., Protocol for Complexing CLA Isomers (free acids) with BSA. In In UNC-Greensboro: Greensboro, NC, 2012.

135. Poltanov, E. A.; Shikov, A. N.; Dorman, H.; Pozharitskaya, O. N.; Makarov, V. G.; Tikhonov, V. P.; Hiltunen, R., Chemical and antioxidant evaluation of Indian gooseberry (Emblica officinalis Gaertn., syn. Phyllanthus emblica L.) supplements. *Phytotherapy Research* **2009**, *23*, 1309-1315.

136. Lee, J.-H.; Talcott, S. T., Fruit maturity and juice extraction influences ellagic acid derivatives and other antioxidant polyphenolics in muscadine grapes. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* **2004**, *52*, 361-366.

137. Kragh-Hansen, U., Molecular aspects of ligand binding to serum albumin. *Pharmacological Reviews* **1981**, *33*, 17-53.

138. McCLENAGHAN, N., Arachidonic acid, palmitic acid and glucose are important for the modulation of clonal pancreatic  $\beta$ -cell insulin secretion, growth and functional integrity. *Clinical Science* **2004**, *106*, 191-199.

139. Calabrese, E. J.; Bachmann, K. A.; Bailer, A. J.; Bolger, P. M.; Borak, J.; Cai, L.; Cedergreen, N.; Cherian, M. G.; Chiueh, C. C.; Clarkson, T. W., Biological stress response terminology: Integrating the concepts of adaptive response and preconditioning stress within a hormetic dose–response framework. *Toxicology and applied pharmacology* **2007**, *222*, 122-128.

140. Mattson, M. P.; Cheng, A., Neurohormetic phytochemicals: Low-dose toxins that induce adaptive neuronal stress responses. *Trends in neurosciences* **2006**, *29*, 632-639.

141. Landete, J., Ellagitannins, ellagic acid and their derived metabolites: a review about source, metabolism, functions and health. *Food research international* **2011**, *44*, 1150-1160.

142. Bloomgarden, Z. T., Inflammation and insulin resistance. *Diabetes care* **2003**, *26*, 1619-1623.

143. Dayer-Métroz, M.-D.; Wollheim, C. B.; Seckinger, P.; Dayer, J.-M., A natural interleukin 1 (IL-1) inhibitor counteracts the inhibitory effect of IL-1 on insulin production in cultured rat pancreatic islets. *Journal of autoimmunity* **1989**, *2*, 163-171.

144. Welters, H. J.; Tadayyon, M.; Scarpello, J. H. B.; Smith, S. A.; Morgan, N. G., Monounsaturated fatty acids protect against  $\beta$ -cell apoptosis induced by saturated fatty acids, serum withdrawal or cytokine exposure. *FEBS Letters* **2004**, *560*, 103-108.

145. Hagenfeldt, L.; Wahren, J.; Pernow, B.; Räf, L., Uptake of individual free fatty acids by skeletal muscle and liver in man. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* **1972**, *51*, 2324.

## VITA

Srikanth Earpina was born in Nidadavole, INDIA in 1986. He received his Bachelor of Technology degree in Food Science from Acharya N G Ranga Agricultural University, Hyderabad, India, in 2009. During his final semester of under graduation, he worked as an intern at the Hindustan Coca Cola Beverages Pvt. Ltd, Moula-Ali, Hyderabad, India. After graduation, he worked as QA Executive at the Himjal Beverages Pvt. Ltd, Hyderabad, India until November, 2009. After that, he began pursuing his Master's degree in Food Science in the Dept. of Food Science at Louisiana State University, Baton Rouge, Louisiana. He carried out his research under the supervision of Dr. Jack Losso and will be receiving his Master's degree in December, 2013. He is an accredited member of the Institute of Food Technologists (IFT), American Oil Chemists' Society (AOCS) and the honorary society, Gamma Sigma Delta.